Santa Barbara City College College Planning Council Tuesday, September 22, 2009 3:00 pm – 4:30 pm PE214 Physical Education Conference Room Minutes

PRESENT: A. Serban (Chair), I. Alarcon, O. Arellano, L. Auchincloss, P. Bishop, S. Ehrlich, J. Friedlander, T. Garey, A. Garfinkel, M. Guillen, K. Molloy, K. Monda, D. Nevins, C. Ramirez, J. Sullivan, N. Ridgell

GUESTS: J. Clark, L. Griffin, J. Meyer, K. O'Connor, A. Scharper, M. Spaventa, L. Stark, L. Vasquez

Call to Order

Superintendent/President Serban called the meeting to order.

1. Approval of minutes from the July 27, August 25 and September 1, 2009 CPC meetings (attached)

M/S/C [IAlarcon/DNevins] to approve the minutes (7/27, 8/25, 9/1) with the corrections of the August 25th CPC meeting minutes noted by Academic Senate Member Monda. C. Ramirez abstained as he was not present.

Information Items

2. Preparation for the flu season

Superintendent/President Serban reminded the council that Susan Broderick, Director, Student Health Services sent out campus-wide emails with information from the SB County Public Health Department outlining ways for employees and students to protect themselves from the flu and to prevent the spread of the flu. She also sent a flyer announcing the SBCC seasonal flu vaccine clinic at the end of September, plus two prevention posters. Superintendent/President Serban reported that there is a Crisis Team on campus who is monitoring cases on campus and we will be alerted if we are anywhere near a pandemic. There is no pandemic right now and students should be attending classes.

Discussion Items

- 3. Update of program reviews due October 15
 - a. Clarification on what needs to be updated and included

Superintendent/President Serban reported that there have been several questions about the updating of the program reviews: "Exactly what do we need to update in the program reviews?" Superintendent/President Serban reminded everyone that Samantha Thomas, Information Systems Specialist III, is offering training on how to use the new Program Review Website. Superintendent/President Serban clarified that areas that need to be

updated are: The Resource Requests templates and the Progress on Goals and Objectives for each department/unit. The Resource Requests from last year were rolled over, so the text from last year is there to update if needed. The other areas do not need to be updated right now.

b. Use of resource request to inform the budget planning for 2010-11

Superintendent/President Serban stressed that it is absolutely necessary for the Resource Requests to be done by October 15the because they will be used in the budget development process for 2010-11.

- c. Role of P&R and ITC in ranking of Resource Requests
- 4. Clarification of use of equipment fund 2009-10 and 2010-11 (handout) Andreea Serban

Superintendent/President Serban opened the discussion from one of the three handouts provided, "Description of the Utilization of the Equipment fund (known as "Fund 41)". This document outlines what has been discussed in CPC and Academic Senate last year. Superintendent/President Serban stated that the main goal is to understand the ongoing needs of the College. Superintendent/President Serban asked for discussion, and suggestions for clarity on this document since a number of departments had questions about it.

- a. Interim Director of PE, Kathy O'Connor questioned exactly what is meant by equipment versus supplies in the sentence in the 2nd paragraph: "Routine Equipment items are those that a department needs to replace/buy on an annual basis in order to perform its core functions." Superintendent/President Serban stated that some departments have used Fund 41 for items that are more supplies than equipment. Superintendent/President Serban said that we need to understand the difference between ongoing supplies versus ongoing equipment. CSEA Consultation Group Member Guillen identified equipment as being a hard durable good versus supplies that are consumable.
- b. VP Sullivan stated that this year, 2009 -10, each department needs to put together a list of what has been purchased from Fund 41 that is of an ongoing nature. The goal is to get those expenditures into the general fund and out of the equipment fund so that the department's supply budget is replenished on an ongoing basis. Some departments are using Fund 41 for routine ongoing supplies that they buy every year. VP Sullivan said there is a report in Banner that has information about what each Department had used from Fund 41. He suggested that perhaps this can be used to analyze what each department has used; it would help in making sure there are no surprises in the future.
- c. Superintendent/President Serban stated that we want to identify this year, 2009 10, each department's best estimate of what is spent for supplies and ongoing/routine equipment needs out of Fund 41 through a list of routine ongoing expenses and cyclical purchases. Superintendent/President Serban referred to the Sample Equipment Inventory handout that is just that, equipment of \$5,000 or more that contains information of when the equipment was bought and how long it will be useful. This information will be used in budgeting for the future and will provide a three-year window of our needs. Further clarifying discussion took place.
- d. Academic Senate Member Monda asked for further clarification on the budgeting. Superintendent/President Serban stated that in the annual budget a certain amount will be budgeted for ongoing/routine equipment expenses. If the department sees that the budget

is not adequate, they will then request a budget augmentation from new money that would come through the program review.

- e. Academic Senate Member Monda asked: If I was using Fund 41 for supplies, what do I do? Superintendent/President Serban stated that she would report that she had used the funds for routine supplies and include that amount in the estimate to be provided for the ongoing/routine amount to be included in the general fund budget.
- f. VP Sullivan gave a short history of what was done in the past and now the budget will reflect what the actual needs of the college are.
- g. The periodic, non-annual equipment that needs to be replaced on a regular, non-annual basis will be funded from the College's equipment fund. Superintendent/President Serban stated again that Program Reviews should include ONLY the NEW equipment that a department needs. The non-annual is still considered a routine expense because it is ordered routinely every so often. These should NOT be included in Program Reviews. Program Reviews should only include NEW equipment needs that we need to rank. Clarified that The Resource Requests in the Program Review is about NEW equipment requests.
- h. Once the amounts that Departments are spending on a routine/annual basis are in the budget, there will be one scrutiny level and that is if the amount requested seems unreasonable, then they are able to look at the historical amount that has been spent from Fund 41.
- i. In response to the question about if a Department does not spend their supplies budget, will they lose it the next year, and Serban explained that unspent amounts from departmental budgets roll to ending balances. But the next year, the departmental supplies budget is restored, generally to what it was the prior year. In some years when we received COLA, the supplies accounts were augmented by a percentage of the COLA.
- j. VP Sullivan explained in response to a question about "hoarding" money, that Departments do not need to "hoard" because the supplies and routine equipment budgets should be what the Department needs to operate.
- k. Superintendent/President Serban pointed out that there is only so much money we have as an institution and sometimes the Department may have to wait for their new equipment item, especially in bad budget years such as now.
- 1. Superintendent/President Serban explained what the following means, from the "Fund 41" draft handout: "...resources for which a department needs an allocation of funds or other support beyond what it currently has need to be included in program reviews.": 1) If a department needs a new piece of equipment, it needs to be included in the program review or 2nd it may be a routine expense, but the department does not have a the money for it. Request it in Program review because it may cost more than in years past, meaning you want to acquire something that will become part of your routine budget but your current budget is not sufficient to cover the additional expense. She continued to say that it may take us a couple of years to refine this process.
- m. After further discussion about details, Superintendent/President Serban said that whatever amount that was used from Fund 41 for routine/annual expenses, will now be allocated in each department's supply budget.
- 5. Timeline for Budget Development for 2010-11 (handout) Joe Sullivan, Andreea Serban

Superintendent/President Serban reported from the handout: "Draft Budget Development timeline – 9/22/09". This timeline has been updated in order to allow time for the various groups, such as Academic Senate, P&R and ITC to discuss and rank before the requests come to the President and CPC for further discussion and ranking. Superintendent/President Serban reported that after the

program reviews are received, it will take about 3 weeks to produce reports with the resource requests that will be distributed to all groups. The goal is to have the rankings by P&R, ITC and the Academic Senate completed by February 16^{th} , and at the February 23^{rd} CPC meeting the discussions will begin on the rankings and would be completed by the end of March. At the beginning of April, the first preliminary version of the budget for 10 - 11 could be completed. This schedule is similar to prior years, with the exception of the incorporation of the Program Review component. Superintendent/President Serban provided an example of how that would be done.

Superintendent/President Serban advised that the other information that would go into the Program Review is the request for a restoration of funding. A request for restoration of funding should only be because the lack of that funding critically impacts students directly and/or that the program is seriously impacted. Superintendent/President Serban said that in order to fully restore everything that has been cut will take several years because she reminded everyone, the funding has been cut so deeply and most likely will continue through 2012-13. Superintendent/President Serban said that the restoration of funds should be pointed out in the Program Review template. VP Sullivan described further how to do this: The rationale should include what the purpose is for restoring. Restoration would be in the description. The cost centers and object codes will be included in the spreadsheet that the Controller Griffin would send to Managers. Academic Senate Member Monda stated that last year not everyone knew that restoration goes into Program Reviews. VP Sullivan reminded the group that that information needs to be communicated to all Managers and to those who are working on the Program Reviews. Academic Member Garey clarified the fact that the information in request for restoration needs to match the information of what was cut, which people can get from the spreadsheets. Superintendent/President Serban stressed that the Controller will be sending the spreadsheets to those who need them.

a. Categorical programs – communication from the Chancellor's Office regarding administrative relief for categorical programs (attachment) and implications for budget planning for 2010-11

Superintendent/President Serban stated that this will be discussed at the next CPC Meeting.

- 6. College priorities for 2009-10 (attachment) All
 - a. Objectives from the college plan 2008-11 and district technology plan 2008-11 on which to focus in 2009-10 (attachments; also attached FYI the enrollment management plan 2009-11)
 - b. Planning agendas identified in the self study (attachment)

Superintendent/President Serban stated that the above topics require some time for discussion. At the next CPC meeting on October 6th, we will look at the objectives, and planning agendas that we want to focus on this academic year. Superintendent/President Serban stated that in 2009-10, as indicated in the College Plan 2008-11 and two of the planning agendas in the self study, we need to develop a frame work for regular evaluation and improvement of the institutional governance structure and decision making processes. The draft of the Education Master Plan will be completed in October 2009 and finalized by Dec 2009.

7. Planning and revised schedule of deferred maintenance projects (handout); update from kick-off meeting for the Humanities building remodel – Joe Sullivan, Steve Massetti

Superintendent/President Serban stated that she wants the Council to review and discuss the information in the two handouts. Since the decision to postpone the building of SoMA, the two handouts include a revised estimated spending of Measure V funding as it relates to the first and second bond issues and the update on the Humanities Building remodel. Superintendent/President Serban reminded everyone that 85% of the 47 million needs to be spent by November 2011 and she reported that after looking forward at what the assumptions are for state funding in the next 10 – 15 years, there are only two other College projects that have a good chance of receiving money from the State: the MacDougall Administration Center and the Schott Center.

VP Sullivan reported from the handout: "Estimated Bond Spending Revised September 22, 2009". He went through it line by line explaining how the District Measure V funds will be spent. VP Sullivan continued with how the projects were divided between the two bond issuances showing how they planned to spend the 85% of the \$47 million by November 2011. Questions, answers, discussions then ensued. VP Sullivan explained what the ideal situation with the State issuing the next bonds would be if the funding is there. The first year of bond funding, the money will be spent on preliminary drawings. The next year State issued bond would include funding for the working drawings for the two projects and then the following year, the funding from the bond would include the construction and equipment. He explained this is all conjecture because of the uncertainty of the State Fiscal situation. The size of the bonds may also be reduced over time. With these uncertainties the construction phase may be postponed up to five years.

Program Manager Massetti reported from the second handout which is the Humanities Building Improvements Kick-Off Meeting Agenda that shows the Project Scope and the Budget Breakdown. He stated that the scope on this remodel is pretty limited and an entire modernization is not being done due to the limited funding available. He went through the list of construction items under the Project Scope, some examples are: ADA compliance needed and required elevator replacement, fire alarm, etc. He stated that the swing space modifications will come out of the budget for this project and the goal is to minimize the modifications to the swing space. He reviewed the list of the planned next steps, stating that it is a reasonably aggressive schedule. He outlined the ideal situation. After the completion of the Drama/Music renovations, the intention is to get the Drama/Music Departments moved back into the renovated building by January 2011. Then move everyone out of Humanities and the Campus Center into their swing space in January 2011. That is 18 months of construction and move-in so that we would be able to be back in by fall 2012 and fully occupying and using the building, project completely finished.

Superintendent/President Serban stated that this is a preliminary schedule and to expect ongoing revisions. She reiterated that 85% of the \$47 million must be spent by November 2011, and the more of the deferred maintenance projects we can do, the better. The swing space problem limits what we can accomplish. Superintendent/President Serban stated that if anyone sees some major oversight of something that should have been noticed and there is a reason for a particular timing that is compelling, let Steve Massetti know about it. There was further discussion about looking at the possibility of starting the remodel of the IDC building earlier than is scheduled. VP Sullivan said that in this initial phase of planning, they are looking at how they utilize the campus over the summer. There was further discussion about the costs of modernization in the future, State Funding, Design and DSA Fees and the timing of projects listed on the deferred maintenance project schedule.

Next meeting: Tuesday, October 6, 3:00-4:30pm A218C



September 4, 2009

To: Dr. John Nixon, Team Chair Diana Casteel, Team Assistant Accreditation Team Members

Cc: Dr. Barbara Beno, Executive Director, ACCJC

From: Dr. Andreea M. Serban, Superintendent/President

Re: Developments since the completion of the institutional self study

This memo outlines developments since the completion of the institutional self study and additional information for some areas covered in the study.

Budget

As it is widely known, the State budget crisis that has begun in June 2008 and continued to worsen has had significant negative impacts on the funding for California Community Colleges.

Budget Actions in 2008-09

In response to the severe deterioration in the State budget and the great uncertainty that lasted throughout the entire year regarding the fiscal outlook of the State and community colleges, SBCC took deliberate and timely actions in 2008-09. In the end, the reductions in revenues from the State were somewhat less severe than communicated to the College at various points throughout the year. The College was also able to generate additional revenue by capturing all allowable growth funding for 2008-09. As a result, the College is concluding 2008-09 with a solid ending fund balance of \$16,330,092, higher than the ending balance in 2007-08.

Below is a chart with the budget reductions put in place in the 2008-09 fiscal year. The adjustment in the academic salaries category was due to reductions in overload, certificated hourly counseling, stipends and Continuing Education adjuncts. The reductions in classified salaries and hourly pay were due to fewer hourly staff and student workers in spring 2009. There were also savings because of classified staff and classified management vacancies kept unfilled for a number of months or not filled at all. As a result, there were savings in employee benefits. Employee benefits are the retirement contributions and mandated payroll deductions (not the health insurance)

applied to the reductions for academic and classified salaries. Supplies and materials were both instructional and non-instructional expenses. Other operating expenses and service expenses were reduced by cutting expenditures for consultants, travel and conferences, repairs and maintenance. Capital outlay was for purchase of equipment that was not covered in the regular general fund equipment budget. The transfer out for equipment was for the replacement of technology under the College refresh program and new equipment for various departments.

J			Total budget reductions in
	Sep-08	Feb-09	2008-09
Major Object 10 Academic Salaries	490,752	315,123	805,875
Major Object 20 – Classified Salaries and			
Hourly Pay	233,805	707,358	941,163
Major Object 30 Employee Benefits	92,546	119,544	212,089
Major Object 40 Supplies And Materials	163,591	101,499	265,090
Major Object 50 Other Operating			
Expenditures & Services	190,438	396,355	586,793
Major Object 60 Capital Outlay	49,949		49,949
Transfer Out – Equipment		1,300,000	1,300,000
	1,221,080	2,939,878	4,160,958

Budget Reductions in 2008-09

Overall, the \$4,160,958 reduction represented a 4.8% reduction of the College's unrestricted general fund budget. The reductions impacted to some degree the ability to provide the same level of support in all areas, including direct service to students, but with no reduction in regular employees. The goal was to retain regular employees and avoid layoffs while limiting the impact on instruction and services to students. The College did not reduce sections in 2008-09 other than the low enrolled sections which would have been reduced part of the regular enrollment management processes of the College. These goals were successfully accomplished in 2008-09.

Budget Actions in 2009-10

2009-10 Budget Enacted by the Legislature on July 28, 2009 and Impact on SBCC Revenues

1. Statewide categorical funding has been reduced by approximately 50%. The original assumption of a level of federal backfill of \$1.2 million for SBCC is no longer realistic although it was included in the July 28 budget. The federal backfill is allocated based on a formula statewide across all public education segments. Because the other public education segments were reduced more proportionally than the Community College System, the portion that it is now estimated to be available to Community Colleges is only 25% of the amount assumed in July. At this time, based on analysis conducted with the categorical programs, the College estimates that an augmentation of \$566,885 will be provided to Categorical programs from the general fund ending balance to offset the cuts in State funds. This is in addition to the support for categorical programs from the general fund that the College has previously budgeted for 2009-10. The estimate

includes funding to cover all permanent staff included in the categorical programs. This level of funding will help provide almost the same level of support as in 2008-09.

- 2. Part-time faculty compensation has been reduced by \$385,693.
- 3. Apportionment for 2009-10 was reduced by \$2,574,745. This is an ongoing base reduction resulting in the need to reduce the base FTES.
- 4. A 2008-09 retroactive reduction of \$1,118,000.
- 5. There is no funded growth in 2009-10.
- 6. There is no COLA for State apportionment in 2009-10.
- 7. Lottery revenue is assumed to decline by 5%.

Steps Taken to Achieve a Balanced Adopted Budget for 2009-10

The reductions put in place in 2008-09 continue in 2009-10. The College has taken the following additional measures in 2009-10:

- For a second year in a row, there is no transfer of money to the equipment fund and limited transfer to the construction fund. The College has remaining balances in these funds to allow for the refresh of desktops, laptops and servers and routine maintenance of the campus. In addition, money will not be transferred to the copier replacement fund and to the energy construction project. This totals \$467,909. As a result, the refresh cycle for desktops and laptops has been changed from four to five years.
- Generate new revenue by enrolling an additional 50 international students in fall 2009 and 100 students in spring 2010. The estimated net increase in revenues is \$313,100 after subtracting the additional costs.
- Seven permanent positions are not filled during this fiscal year. This results in \$678,586 savings in salaries and benefits expense.
- Reduction in hourly expenses of \$671,341. In spring 2009, the College conducted an analysis of its payment schedules for hourly workers and student workers. The analysis indicated that SBCC paid significantly higher hourly rates when compared to peer community colleges. A revised hourly pay schedule was implemented effective July 1, 2009.
- SBCC chose to implement the workload reduction equivalent to the reduction of \$2,574,745 in the apportionment by reducing 381 California resident FTES (over 200 sections) in credit and 300 FTES in non-credit. The workload reduction was approved and included in the July 28 budget.
- The College implemented other reductions (i.e., allowance for cell phones, allowance for mileage reimbursement, travel, institutional memberships) totaling \$113,444.

These actions ensure that the College remains fiscally solid and that all permanent positions are maintained without the need to reduce compensation through furloughs or salary reductions. The College also continues to maintain sufficient reserves to ensure that the deferrals in State payments will not impede the College's ability to pay monthly

salaries, benefits and fixed costs. The College also does not need to borrow money. However, these reductions have had the following consequences:

- a. reduction in the hours the Student Services Building and the Learning Resource Center are open;
- b. modifications in the ways in which some student services are provided to students (i.e., more group counseling and reduction in individual appointments);
- c. elimination of readers assigned to faculty teaching large-size sections to assist them in reviewing written assignments;
- d. elimination of Online Instructional Aides (assistance provided to faculty teaching online classes in tutoring and corresponding with students);
- e. suspension of sabbatical leaves for 2009-10;
- f. reductions in funds allocated for tutoring overall;
- g. several technology-related projects such as equipping 10% of the Main Campus classrooms with student response systems (clickers) have been postponed.

Continuing Education Re-structuring

Since June 2008, the College has been engaged in analyzing the structure of the Continuing Education Division. The retirements of the three top management Continuing Education positions (Vice Presidents and two deans) within a brief period (May-June 2008) provided an unprecedented opportunity to analyze needs and create an upper management structure that best serves Continuing Education and the district as a whole.

This reorganization is in response to several forces that affect the Continuing Education Division and the ability to deliver quality instruction and student support services. The reorganization is intended to accomplish the following:

1. Increase emphasis on student learning

Placing all of the instructional units under the purview of the Dean results in improved coordination and integration of all programs directly involved in student learning. This single leadership will facilitate student success. Based on the analysis conducted in 2008-09, the two-dean structure was consolidated into a one-dean structure. The Vice President with primary location at the Schott Center and the Dean with primary location at the Wake Center ensure high level administrative positions at both locations. After a nationwide search, a new Vice President was hired effective February 9, 2009.

2. Improved enrollment management

In 2007-08, the Continuing Education Division embarked on the process of implementing an online registration system. The system went live on December 1, 2008. Several staff members worked in interim and/or out-of-class assignments during 2008-09. With one exception, effective July 1, 2009, these individuals have returned to their original classifications. One classified manager continues to work in an out-of-classification assignment as Interim Director of Student Services. These temporary

assignments were intended to maximize the efficiency of operations during the implementation. Now that the Lumens implementation has been completed, some organizational changes need to be made going forward to support the changes in business processes brought about by the conversion to Lumens.

The implementation of the Lumens online registration system created a paradigm shift in Continuing Education enrollment management. This shift created the need to add registration responsibilities to the Director of Registration and Technology position (formerly Director of Community Technology Centers). Front office staff and other classified Continuing Education employees also have different responsibilities as a result of the Lumens implementation; these positions will undergo a classification study conducted by Human Resources in fall 2009.

3. Transition of non-credit students to credit programs

A major initiative of the Continuing Education Division is to encourage and facilitate the transition of students to credit programs. This requires the provision of necessary student support services. Vice President Arellano will work collaboratively with credit administrators and faculty to achieve this goal (please see attached revised organizational charts in Appendix 1).

Educational Programs Changes in Assignments Due to a Vacancy in a Dean Position

In August 2009, Dr. Erika Endrijonas, the Dean of Educational Programs whose responsibilities included some of the career technical programs and technologies programs accepted a position at Oxnard College. The decision was made to not replace this position in 2009-10 and to reassign the responsibilities to the other deans. The reasons for this decision are multiple: 1) the late date of Dr. Endrijonas' resignation; 2) the concerns regarding the State's fiscal challenges has led to an approach by which the College evaluates each vacancy as it occurs and, when possible, it does not fill the vacancy right away if the responsibilities of the position can be addressed by existing employees or some responsibilities can be re-structured and 3) this resignation gives the College the opportunity to take the time to look more holistically at the Educational Programs structure and evaluate what structure will serve the College best in the long-run.

As a result, the Business Division was assigned to Dean Guy Smith. The Health and Human Services Division was assigned to Associate Dean Betty Pazich and the Technologies Division was assigned to Dean Doug Hersh. The deans' backgrounds and workloads were taken into account in reassigning these responsibilities. Dean Diane Hollems was appointed to serve as the administrative liaison to the Curriculum Advisory Committee. Dean Marilynn Spaventa was appointed to serve as the administrative liaison to the Academic Senate's Planning and Resources Committee and as the instructional dean member in the Board Policies and Administrative Procedures Committee. In order to balance workloads, Dean Ben Partee assumed the administrative responsibilities for Faculty Professional Development from Dean Doug Hersh.

Each of these changes in assignment was done in consultation with and endorsed by the appropriate department chairs. These changes in the administrative liaison assignments to the Academic Senate Committees were done in consultation with and endorsement from the President of the Academic Senate President and the chairs of the Senate Committees (please see attached revised organizational charts in Appendix 1).

Hispanic Serving Institution Status

In spring 2009, the College was able to achieve the designation of Hispanic Serving Institution. Among the benefits of receiving this designation is being eligible to apply for a Title V grant, TRIO grants and other federal grants. In addition, the College is not required to match its Federal Work Study allocation. The College will prepare a Title V grant proposal in 2009-10 to compete for federal funding beginning in 2010.

Student Learning Outcomes

All credit instructional and student services programs have submitted plans to complete the SLO Cycle for all their courses and programs by the end of the 2011-12 academic year. Departments are scheduled to complete 25% of their course and program SLOs over a four year period. A proposal will be submitted to the Academic Senate early in the fall 2009 semester to require that the SLO Implementation Cycle be completed for all courses and programs on a three-year time period corresponding with the annual updates and three-year revision of the program reviews. The proposal calls for having departments complete the improvement plans for at least one-third of their course SLOs and program PSLOs (Program SLOs) each year and include the improvement plans for these courses and programs in their annual program review updates.

The SLO Coordinating Committee and the Student Services SLO Coordinating Committee now meet on a periodic basis as needed rather than on a weekly or biweekly basis as noted in the self study. These committees are likely to meet on a more frequent basis after the eLumen SLO Reporting System is completed for the instructional and student services programs. The programs for each of these areas are scheduled to be completed by the end of September 2009.

In order to more adequately reflect the incorporation of SLOs in the College's instructional and student services programs, faculty job descriptions, faculty evaluations procedures and Faculty Responsibilities Checklists were revised to incorporate the expectation that faculty fulfill their obligation in collecting, reporting and using SLOs to assess and improve student learning. These changes in the faculty job descriptions and faculty evaluation procedures were developed by the Academic Senate with the concurrence of the Instructor's Association.

Football Program Sanctions and Penalties

The SBCC Football Program has violated several areas of the California Community College Athletic Association/Commission on Athletics Constitution and Bylaws (CCCAA/COA), specifically having to do with the recruitment of student-athletes. As a result, effective June 1, 2009, the Southern California Football Association (SCFA) has imposed on the SBCC Football Program the sanctions and penalties noted below.

The SBCC administration and coaching staff are taking all necessary steps to adhere to the CCCAA/COA Constitution and Bylaws, to implement the conditions of the sanctions that have been imposed and to ensure that the SBCC Football Program will emerge at the end of the probationary year in full compliance with all CCCAA/COA rules.

Through this probationary process, SBCC student-athletes will continue to be a part of an outstanding educational institution, providing excellent academic preparation to meet their certificate, degree, transfer and/or career-technical objectives. The 2009 football season is continuing as scheduled.

The following penalties and sanctions have been imposed on the SBCC Football Program by the SCFA under the provisions of CCCAA/COA Article 7.5.12 and are now in effect:

- All football games in the 2008 season are forfeited and the team record is reflected as 0-10 in the official SCFA 2008 final statistics.
- The 2008 co-championship of the American Pacific Conference is also forfeited.
- The SBCC football program is placed on probation for one year through June 30, 2010.
- The SBCC football program is suspended from post-conference competition for the 2009 football season.

These sanctions apply to the football program only; not to any other sports at SBCC.

During the course of this probationary period, the College will develop and implement a plan to monitor all areas of the Football Program which have been in violation. The SCFA has requested that the College make monthly reports and provide specific information through June 30, 2010. At that time, a determination will be made regarding the ending of the probationary status for the Football program based on evidence that the steps taken have resolved the violations that occurred.

Changes in assignments related to SBCC PE and Athletics:

The following duties related to Physical Education and Athletics have been assigned:

Ellen O'Connor, Interim Director of Athletics reporting to Superintendent/President Andreea Serban

Kathy O'Connor, Interim Director of Physical Education reporting to Executive Vice President Jack Friedlander

These assignments assist the College to address the sanctions imposed against the Football Program.

In addition, Mike Warren, Associate Dean PE/Athletics, was assigned to Special Projects reporting to Executive Vice President Jack Friedlander (please see attached revised organizational charts in Appendix 1).

Construction Projects

The College is progressing well on a number of construction projects made possible by the passage of Measure V, a local construction bond issue which passed in June 2008. After months of careful financial analysis, discussions, and consultation with College governance groups, the Board of Trustees voted on August 27, 2009 to indefinitely postpone the building of the School of Media Arts Building (SoMA) on the East Campus.

The vision of SoMA has been to bring together all SoMA related programs under one roof and position our College as a regional hub of excellence in these industries. The project was to be funded by \$32M in State funds, \$9.3M from Measure V, and \$5M from the SoMA Fundraising Campaign for a total of \$46.3M. The cost of the project was later estimated at \$52M due to adding LEEDs certification and space.

Subsequently, the State reduced its commitment for building SoMA from \$32 to \$22 million, with no guarantee as to when the funds would actually be provided in light of the budget crisis. The only way to complete the project given these new developments would have been for the College to allocate \$28 million of the \$77 million Measure V funds to SoMA. This would have taken away money from other critical College renovation projects which now need to be completed with Measure V funds only as the assumed matching State funds are no longer a possibility. It was an extremely difficult decision, given the years of internal planning as well as hearings and negotiations with various regulatory boards. In the end, the decision came down to the conservative and prudent use of Measure V funds and what would bring the most good to most students and members of our larger community.

New College Web Site

On August 15, 2009, the College launched a new Web site. This effort was mentioned in the self study and the new Web site was launched earlier than noted in the report. As a result, a few of the URLs used as references in the self study changed. Appendix 2 provides a cross walk between the former and new URLs on the College Web site for those used as references in the self study.

Appendix 1. SBCC Organizational Charts



















APPENDIX 2.

INSTITUTIONAL SELF STUDY FOR REAFFIRMATION OF ACCREDITATION CROSS WALK FOR REFERENCES IN THE SELF STUDY WHERE COLLEGE WEB SITES WERE USED OLD VS NEW COLLEGE WEB SITE

SANTA BARBARA CITY COLLEGE SEPTEMBER 4, 2009

STANDARD	CITATION NUMBER	FORMER URL	NEW URL
Standard I	IA.18	http://www.sbcc.edu	Same
	IA.31	http://www.sbcc.edu/measurev	Same
	IB.34	http://frc.sbcc.edu/slo/rubric/index.htm	Same
	IB.35	http://sloplan.sbcc.edu	http://slo.sbcc.edu/
	IB.36	http://www.elumen.info/summary.html	Same
	IB.70	<pre>http://www.sbcc.edu/collegedepartments/administrati ve/index.php?sec=209</pre>	http://www.sbcc.edu/departments/collegecommit tees.php
	IB.71	<pre>http://slo.sbcc.edu/SBCCfaculty.html and http://www.sbcc.edu/institutionalresearch/index.php ?sec=216</pre>	Same http://sbcc.edu/institutionalresearch/demographi cs.php
Standard	IIA.9	http://www.sbcc.edu/middlecollege	Same
II	IIA.10	http://online.sbcc.edu/index.php?page=courses	Same
	IIA.11	http://sbcc.augusoft.net/index.cfm?fuseaction=1010	Same
	IIA.25	http://frc.sbcc.edu/?page_id=18	Same
	IIA.27	http://sbcclearningresources.net/dla	Same
	IIA.30	http://slo.sbcc.edu	Same
	IIA.36	http://www.sbcc.edu/internationalstudents/	Same
	IIA.37	http://www.sbcc.edu/studyabroad/	Same
	IIA.41	http://frc.sbcc.edu/cac/forms/	Same
	IIA.54	http://libraryvm.sbcc.edu/coi/	Same
	IIA.56	http://www.sbcc.edu/learningresources/website/Resou rces/resources.htm	Same
	IIA.57	http://www.sbcc.edu/frc/	Same
	IIA.59	http://4sbccfaculty.sbcc.edu/	Same
	IIA.64	http://progreviews.sbcc.net	Available via user name and password
	IIA.68	http://slo.sbcc.edu/SBCCfaculty.html	Same
	IIA.70	http://curr.sbcc.net	Same
	IIA.74	http://www.perkins4.org/perkins3-4.asp and http://www.sbcc.edu/apply/index.php?sec=22	Same Same

STANDARD	CITATION NUMBER	FORMER URL	NEW URL
	IIA.75	http://www.sbcc.edu/dars/index.php?sec=92	Same
	IIA.77	http://www.sbcc.edu/classes/index.php?sec=29	Same
	IIA.78	http://www.sbcc.edu/prerequisitepolicy/index.php?se	Same
		c=2797	Same Web site as above
		http://www.sbcc.edu/prerequisitepolicy/index.php?se	
		c=2704	
	IIB.2	http://www.sbcc.edu	Same
	IIB.3	http://www.sbcc.edu/2008_2009_catalog	http://archive.sbcc.edu/2008_2009_catalog/
	IIB.18	http://www.collegesource.org	Same
	IIC.2	http://library.sbcc.edu/2008/02/library_survey.html	Same
	IIC.10	http://sbcclearningresources.net/dla	Same
	IIC.29	http://www.sbcc.edu/learningresources	Same
Standard	IIIB.3	http://www.sbcc.edu/security/	Same
III	IIIB.29	http://www.sbcc.edu/measurev/	Same
	IIIC.20	http://frc.sbcc.edu/	Same
	IIIC.27	https://flex.sbcc.edu/Catalog.aspx	Same
	IIIC.28	http://www.sbcc.edu/facultydevelopment/	Same
	IIIC.30	http://flex.sbcc.edu	Same
	IIIC.31	http://www.sbcc.edu/staffresourcecenter/	http://www.sbcc.edu/src/
Standard IV	IVA.36	http://www.sbcc.edu/institutionalresearch	Same

Guide to Evaluating Institutions

August 2009

A Publication of the Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges Western Association of Schools and Colleges

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
General Information About Accreditation	4
Dialogue	5
Themes	6
Institutional Commitments	6
Evaluation, Planning, and Improvement	7
Student Learning Outcomes	7
Organization	8
Dialogue	8
Institutional Integrity	9
Evolution of the Standards	9
Characteristics of Evidence	10
Questions to Use in Institutional Evaluation	13
Standard I: Institutional Mission and Effectiveness	13
A. Mission	13
B. Improving Institutional Effectiveness	15
Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard I	18
Standard II: Student Learning Programs and Services	20
A. Instructional Programs	20
B. Student Support Services	32
C. Library and Learning Support Services	36
Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard II	39
Standard III: Resources	46
A. Human Resources	46
B. Physical Resources	52
C. Technology Resources	55
D. Financial Resources	57
Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard III	62
Standard IV: Leadership and Governance	67
A. Decision-Making Roles and Processes	67
B. Board and Administrative Organization	70
Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard IV	78

Introduction

This *Guide to Evaluating Institutions* is designed to be used by institutions preparing their Self Study Report as well as by teams conducting a comprehensive evaluation. The Guide is meant to provoke some thoughtful consideration about whether the institution meets the Accreditation Standards at a deeper level than mere compliance – it is intended to also provide some guidance for a holistic view of an institution and its quality. The common guide is predicated on the belief that both institutional members and peer evaluators use the standards to assess the institution, and that they ought to be using the same tools to conduct that assessment.

The *Guide* begins with "General Information on Accreditation," a description of the purpose and general process of accreditation. Readers should review this section each time they engage in activities associated with a comprehensive accreditation visit. It is important to be clear on the things accreditation seeks to accomplish, and the things it does not.

The next section describes "Dialogue," a key component of a quality institution and a necessary attribute for an institution that is trying to focus primary attention on student learning. The kind of dialogue described will be useful as institutions strive to support and improve student learning, as institution planning groups try to be self reflective and self evaluative in an effort to improve, and as teams consider the quality of colleges.

The next section, "Themes of Accreditation," describes the six themes of quality that pervade the Accreditation Standards. While the individual standards are the key benchmarks or criteria an institution must meet, the standards themselves are interlocking. A careful read of the standards will reveal several themes that pervade the standards' definition of a quality institution. This section of the *Guide* has articulated six of those themes; they can provide a basis for a summative assessment of how well the institution is working as a whole.

A section entitled "Regarding Evidence" has been included to provide some guidance on the nature of good evidence that self study teams and evaluation teams will use to evaluate an institution. There are several different kinds of evidence required during an accreditation review – evidence of structure, evidence of resources, evidence of process, evidence of student achievement, and evidence of student learning – and each requires careful consideration. Persons evaluating a college will want to be thoughtful about the kinds of evidence they consider, and the degree to which their conclusions are backed by the appropriate evidence.

The main body of the *Guide* is contained in "Questions to Use in Institutional Evaluation." Here the reader will find the 2002 Standards followed by sample questions about their application at an institution. The questions are designed to guide a thoughtful examination of institutional quality. There are many other questions that institutions could develop to stimulate thorough self-reflection. Likewise, there are many other questions team members can and should ask to determine the degree to which the institution is meeting the standards and ensuring institutional quality and improvement. The questions should not be used as a substitute for the standards or as substitutes for thorough introspection and examination. At the end of each standard, there is a list of potential sources of evidence. This non-exhaustive list is not meant to indicate that each of the documents must be present, but that these might be sources of the evidence. There may be many other sources that institutions should provide and teams should look for.

General Information About Accreditation

Accreditation as a system of voluntary, non-governmental self regulation and peer review is unique to American educational institutions. It is a system by which an institution evaluates itself in accordance with standards of good practice regarding goals and objectives; the appropriateness, sufficiency, and utilization of resources; the usefulness, integrity, and effectiveness of its processes; and the extent to which it is achieving its intended outcomes. It is a process by which accreditors provide students, the public, and each other with assurances of institutional integrity, quality, and effectiveness. Accreditation is intended to encourage institutions to plan for institutional improvement in quality and effectiveness.

Each institution affiliated with the Accrediting Commission for Community and Junior Colleges accepts the obligation to undergo a cycle of periodic evaluation through institutional self study and professional peer review. The heart of this obligation is conducting a rigorous self study during which an institution appraises itself against the Commission's standards in terms of its stated institutional purposes. The cycle of evaluation requires a Comprehensive Self Study every six years following initial accreditation and a visit by a team of peers. The cycle includes a mandatory midterm report in the third year as well as any other reports requested by the Commission. All reports beyond the Comprehensive Self Study may be followed by a visit by Commission representatives.

Teams conduct a review following completion of a self study in order to

determine the extent to which an institution meets the standards. Team members, selected for their expertise from member institutions, make recommendations to meet Standards, make recommentations for improvement to an institution, commend exemplary practices, and provide both the college and the Commission with a report of their findings.

It is the responsibility of the nineteen-member Commission to determine the accredited status of an institution. In determining this status, the Commission uses the institutional Self Study Report, the visiting team report, and the accreditation history of the institution. The Commission decision is communicated to the institution via an action letter and is made public through Commission announcements.

Dialogue

As the Commission was developing the current standards, it became evident that if an institution is to ensure that its resources and processes support student learning and its continuous assessment, as well as the pursuit of institutional excellence and improvement, an "ongoing, selfreflective dialogue" must become central to institutional processes. This dialogue, it was thought, should serve to provide a college community with the means to integrate all of the elements of the standards, resulting in a comprehensive institutional perspective that would serve to verify integrity and "promote quality and improvement." Accordingly, the subtitle of the Introduction to the Accreditation Standards is "Shaping the Dialogue."

A dialogue is a group discussion among "colleagues," often facilitated, that is designed to explore complex issues, create greater group intelligence and facilitate group learning. The idea of "colleagues" is important; dialogue occurs where individuals see themselves as colleagues. In order for the group to engage in dialogue, individuals must suspend their own views to listen fully to one another in order to understand each other's viewpoints. Groups engaged in dialogue develop greater insights, shared meanings and ultimately, collective understanding of complex issues and how best to address them.

Dialogue improves *collective* thinking. A practice of dialogue can have benefits for the individual as well as the institution. Dialogue can help build self-awareness, improve communication skills, strengthen teams, and stimulate innovation that fosters effective change. Dialogues are powerful, transformational experiences that lead to both personal and collaborative action. Dialog also allows controversial topics that may have in the past become sources of disagreement and division to be explored in a more useful context that can lead to greater group insight. The Standards emphasize dialogue as a means for an institution to come to collective understanding of what it means to be learning-focused in the context of a particular institution's history and mission, of what the meaningful student learning outcomes at the program and degree level should be, and on how institutional resources and processes might be structured to support the improvement of student learning.

Unlike *debate*, in which most academicians are trained to seek to score points and to persuade, the goal of dialogue is mutual understanding and respect. Dialogue involves active listening, seeking to understand, giving everyone the opportunity to talk, and trying not to interrupt. A conscious commitment to engage in *dialogue* ensures that a group welcomes a range of viewpoints during its search for effective ways of addressing important issues. Retaining the use of a facilitator can help ensure that the ground rules are maintained and can help clarify themes and ideas.

While dialogue may not lead to a resolution of a conflict, it can lead to a makeover of the way in which the conflict is pursued from one which is destructive and divisive to one which is constructive and leads to personal and institutional growth. Too often on campus, we avoid certain controversial topics or we take a perspective that leaves us in about the same place we started, with little to no additional understanding of the issue. By assisting in the discovery of common ground and by developing increased willingness to work collegially to illuminate and solve problems, dialogue has the potential to improve an institution's ability to deal with the inevitable disagreements that arise in the life of an institution.

The 2002 Standards' focus on student learning calls for higher education institutions to deal with a very complex issue, improving student learning. It also calls on institutions to change—and to learn. Dialogue can be a powerful strategy for generating the creative discussions and collective wisdom that can enable institutional change.

Themes

Several themes thread throughout these standards. These themes can provide guidance and structure to self-reflective dialogue and evaluation of institutional effectiveness. The themes are as follows:

Institutional Commitments

The standards ask institutions to make a commitment in action to providing high quality education congruent with institutional mission. The first expression of this is in Standard I, which calls for an institutional mission statement that reflects the intended student population and the institution's commitment to student learning. Throughout the standards, the Commission asks that institutions insure the consistency between mission and institutional goals and plans and insure that the mission is more that a statement of intention — that it guides institutional action. The standards also ask that an institution commit to supporting student learning as its primary mission.

The number of references to student learning outcomes throughout the standards are designed to guide this institutional commitment to student learning. The standards' requirement that the entire institution participate in reviewing institutional performance and developing plans for improvement of student learning outcomes is intended to help the institution sustain its commitment to student learning. Finally, the requirement that an institution regularly review its mission statement asks that the institution periodically reflect on its mission statement, adapt it as needed, and renew commitment to achieving the mission.

Evaluation, Planning, and Improvement

The standards require ongoing institutional evaluation and improvement to help serve students better. Evaluation focuses on student achievement, student learning, and the effectiveness of processes, policies, and organization. Improvement is achieved through an ongoing and systematic cycle of evaluation, integrated planning, implementation, and re-evaluation. The planning cycle begins with evaluation of student needs and college programs and services. This evaluation in turn informs college decisions about where it needs to improve, and the college identifies improvement goals campus-wide. Resources are distributed in order to implement these goals. When resources are insufficient to support improvement goals, the college adjusts its resource decisions to reflect its priorities or seeks other means of supplying resources to meet its goals. Once improvement plans have been fully implemented, evaluation of how well the goals have been met ensues. Thus, the planning cycle is comprised of evaluation, goal setting, resource distribution, implementation, and reevaluation.

Student Learning Outcomes

The development of Student Learning Outcomes is one of the key themes in these standards. The theme has to do with the institution consciously and robustly demonstrating the effectiveness of its efforts to produce and support student learning by developing student learning outcomes at the course, program, and degree level. This demonstration of effectiveness requires that learning outcomes be measured and assessed to determine how well learning is occurring so that changes to improve learning and teaching can be made. It requires that faculty engage in discussions of ways to deliver instruction to maximize student learning. It requires that those providing student support services develop student learning outcomes and evaluate the quality of their policies, processes, and procedures for providing students access and movement through the institution. And it requires that student learning outcomes be at the center of the institution's key processes and allocation of resources. Ultimately, this theme requires that an institution engage in self-analysis leading to improvement of all that it does regarding learning and teaching.

Organization

The standards require colleges to have inclusive, informed and intentional efforts to define student learning, provide programs to support that learning, and to evaluate how well learning is occurring. This requirement means that the institution must have in place the organizational means to identify and make public the learning outcomes, to evaluate the effective-ness of programs in producing those outcomes, and to make improvements. This requirement for adequate staff, resources and organizational structure (communication and decision making structures) is not new to accreditation standards, but the new expectation is that these be oriented to produce and support student learning. Consequently, they will be evaluated in part by how well they support learning.

Dialogue

The standards are designed to facilitate college engagement in inclusive, informed, and intentional dialogue about institutional quality and improvement. The dialogue should purposefully guide institutional change. All members of the college community should participate in this reflection and exchange about student achievement, student learning, and the effectiveness of its processes, policies, and organization. For the dialogue to have its intended effect, it should be based on reliable information about the college's programs and services and evidence on how well the institution is meeting student needs. Information should be quantitative and qualitative, responsive to a clear inquiry, meaningfully interpreted, and broadly communicated. The institutional dialogue should result in ongoing selfreflection and conscious improvement.

Institutional Integrity

This theme deals with the institution's demonstrated concern with honesty, truthfulness, and the manner it which it represents itself to all stakeholders, internal and external. This theme speaks to the intentions of an institution as well as to how it carries them out. It prompts institutional assessment of the integrity of its policies, practices, and procedures and to how it treats students, employees, and its publics. It asks that the institution concern itself with the clarity, understandability, accessibility, and appropriateness of its publications; that its faculty provide for open inquiry in their classes as well as student grades that reflect an honest appraisal of student performance against faculty standards. It has an expectation of academic honesty on the part of students. It requires that the institution demonstrate regard for issues of equity and diversity. It encourages the institution to look at its hiring and employment practices as well as to its relationship with the Commission and other external agencies. Finally, it expects that an institution be self-reflective and honest with itself in all its operations.

Evolution of the Standards

In the early 1960s Initial Accreditation required evidence that basic structures and processes were in place and minimal resources were available to operate an institution. For example, the existence of mission statement, a president, a governing board, etc., provided evidence of structures, while sufficient full time faculty with appropriate training, sufficient funds, an adequate library, etc., provided evidence of resources sufficient to run a college. In addition evidence of processes for supporting academic freedom, curriculum development, governance, decision making was also required.

Beginning in the 1990s, accreditation added a requirement that colleges provide evidence that students had actually moved through college programs and were completing them. This *student achievement data* provided evidence that students were completing courses, persisting semester to semester, completing degrees and certificates, graduating, transferring, and getting jobs. The standards of this era also specified that institutions provide evidence that program review was being conducted and that plans to improve education were being developed and implemented.

The initial focus on structures, resources, and processes was an approach to quality that was built on what any good organization needed to survive. It was not particularly education-oriented, but it was necessary to support education. The second focus on students moving through the institution began to address the results of college efforts concerning student achievement.

These 2002 Standards of Accreditation add another element to accreditation's focus of attention. They focus on what students have learned as a result of attending college— *student learning outcomes*. This focus requires that the institution provide evidence of a conscious effort to:

- make learning the institution's core activity;
- support and produce student learning;
- measure that learning;
- assess how well learning is occurring;
- make changes to improve student learning;
- organize its key processes to effectively support student learning;
- · allocate its resources to effectively support student learning; and
- improve learning as an important means to institutional improvement.

Characteristics of Evidence

Evidence is the data upon which a judgment or conclusion may be based. As such, it is presented in answer to questions that have been deliberately posed because an institution regards them as important. Evidence tells all stakeholders that an institution has investigated its questions and <u>knows</u> something about itself—it knows what it achieves.

For evidence to be useful, it must have undergone analysis and reflection by the college community. The dialogue required for analysis and reflection is an integral part of the capacity an institution has for using the evidence it has accrued to make improvements.

Good evidence, then, is obviously related to the questions the college has investigated and it can be replicated, making it reliable. Good evidence is representative of what is, not just an isolated case, and it is information upon which an institution can take action to improve. It is, in short, relevant, verifiable, representative, and actionable.

Evidence on Student Achievement and Student Learning

The evidence the institution presents should be about student achievements (student movement through the institution) and should include data on the following:

- Student preparedness for college, including performance on placement tests and/or placement,
- Student training, needs, including local employment training needs, transfer education needs, basic skills needs, etc.,

- Course completion data,
- Retention of students from term to term,
- Student progression to the next course/next level of course,
- Student program (major) completion,
- Student graduation rates,
- Student transfer rates to four-year institutions,
- Student job placement rates,
- Student scores on licensure exams.

The evidence the institution presents should also be about student learning outcomes (mastery of the knowledge, skills, abilities, competencies attitudes, beliefs, opinions, and values at the course, program, and degree levels in the context of each college's mission and population) and should include data on the following:

- · Development and dissemination of student learning outcomes
- Samples of student work/performance (recitals, projects, capstone courses, etc.),
- Summary data on measured student learning outcomes,
- Measurement and analysis of student attainment of student learning outcomes used as part of the institution's self evaluation and planning processes,
- Improvement of the teaching/learning process as a result of the above analysis.

Self study should be only one phase of on-going institutional evaluation, and an evaluating team should be able to see how the institution develops and uses evidence of effectiveness as part of its ongoing evaluative processes. Institutions should gather and use both qualitative and quantitative evidence, and often must use indirect as well as direct measures to assess institutional effectiveness. Good evidence used in evaluations has the following characteristics:

- It is intentional, and a dialogue about its meaning and relevance has taken place.
- It is purposeful, designed to answer questions the institution has raised.
- It has been interpreted and reflected upon, not just offered up in its raw or unanalyzed form.
- It is integrated and presented in a context of other information about the institution that creates a holistic view of the institution or program.
- It is cumulative and is corroborated by multiple sources of data.
- It is coherent and sound enough to provide guidance for improvement.
It is important to note that evidence per se does not lead to confirmations of value and quality. Rather, the members of the college community, or of the higher education community, must arrive at the decisions about value and quality through active judgments. The purpose of good evidence is to encourage informed institutional dialogue that engages the college community and leads to improvement of its processes, procedures, policies, relationships, ultimately with the effect of improving student learning. Good evidence should provide the means for institutions or evaluators to make sound judgments about quality and future direction, but at the same time, it will probably stimulate further inquiry about institutional quality.

Institutions report or store good evidence in many formats, and institutions engaged in self study or evaluative teams may find good evidence in a number of sources, including institutional data bases; documents such as faculty handbooks, catalogues, student handbooks, policy statements, program review documents, planning documents, minutes of important meetings, syllabi, course outlines, and institutional fact books; from survey results; from assessments of student work on examinations, class assignments, capstone projects, etc; from faculty grading rubrics and analyses of student learning outcomes; and from special institutional research reports.

Questions to Use in Institutional Evaluation

This *Guide* is designed to provoke thoughtful dialogue and judgment about institutional quality by college communities engaged in self study and by peer evaluation teams assigned to affirm the quality of institutions. As either group seeks to evaluate an institution's ability to measure up to the Standards of Accreditation, inquiry — asking questions and seeking answers — is necessary before judgment is made. The following questions are designed to provoke thoughtful reflection about institutional quality. These questions are designed to be asked by either the institution engaged in self-reflection as part of self study, or by the peer evaluation team that visits the campus. The *Guide* also provides a list of possible sources of evidence that can be used to develop answers to the questions raised through the process of inquiry.

The questions, and lists of possible evidence, are designed to inform discussions of *student achievement*, such as number of graduates, number of transfer students, retention rates, course completion rates, job placement rates; *institutional performance* such as the presence and effective use of institutional resources, structures, and policies, to achieve the institutions educational mission; and *student learning outcomes* such as the acquisition of knowledge, skills, abilities and attitudes that the institution intended student to learn and which are defined by the institution as the intended learning outcomes. Remember, there may be many other questions that institutions and team members can and should ask in order to assess institutional quality and effectiveness.

Standard I: Institutional Mission and Effectiveness

The institution demonstrates strong commitment to a mission that emphasizes achievement of student learning and to communicating the mission internally and externally. The institution uses analyses of quantitative and qualitative data and analysis in an ongoing and systematic cycle of evaluation, integrated planning, implementation, and re-evaluation to verify and improve the effectiveness by which the mission is accomplished.

A. Mission

The institution has a statement of mission that defines the institution's broad educational purposes, its intended student population, and its commitment to achieving student learning.

- What does the institution's mission statement say about its educational purposes? Are these purposes appropriate to an institution of higher learning?
- Who are the college's intended students? How does the institution determine its intended population? Is the identified population a reasonable match for the institution's location, resources, and role in higher education?
- What processes does the institution use to foster college-wide commitment to student learning? Does the mission statement express this commitment?
- 1. The institution establishes student learning programs and services aligned with its purposes, its character, and its student population.
 - Have discussions been held among key constituents regarding the relevance of the mission statement to student learning?
 - What statements about student learning are included in the mission statement? How do these statements make explicit the purposes of the institution?
 - How does the institution know that it is addressing the needs of its student population?
 - What assessments of institutional effectiveness are undertaken?
- 2. The mission statement is approved by the governing board and published.
 - When was the current mission statement approved by the board?
- 3. Using the institution's governance and decision-making processes, the institution reviews its mission statement on a regular basis and revises it as necessary.
 - How effective is the institution's process for periodic review of the mission statement? Does the process allow for incorporating the interest of the institutions' stakeholders?
 - How does the institution know that the way the mission statement is developed, approved and communicated to all stakeholders is effective? What circumstances prompt changes to the statement?

- 4. The institution's mission is central to institutional planning and decision making.
 - How effectively does the mission statement prompt planning and decision making? To what extent is the mission statement central to the choices the college makes?

B. Improving Institutional Effectiveness

The institution demonstrates a conscious effort to produce and support student learning, measures that learning, assesses how well learning is occurring, and makes changes to improve student learning. The institution also organizes its key processes and allocates its resources to effectively support student learning. The institution demonstrates its effectiveness by providing 1) evidence of the achievement of student learning outcomes and 2) evidence of institution and program performance. The institution uses ongoing and systematic evaluation and planning to refine its key processes and improve student learning.

- 1. The institution maintains an ongoing, collegial, self-reflective dialogue about the continuous improvement of student learning and institutional processes
 - How has the college structured its dialogue? How well does the college embrace and understand the purpose of the dialogue?
 - When, how, and about what subjects has the college engaged in dialogue? What impact has the dialogue had on student learning?
 - Does the dialogue lead to a collective understanding of the meaning of data and research used in evaluation of student learning?
- 2. The institution sets goals to improve its effectiveness consistent with its stated purposes. The institution articulates its goals and states the objectives derived from them in measurable terms so that the degree to which they are achieved can be determined and widely discussed. The institutional members understand these goals and work collaboratively toward their achievement.
 - What criteria does the college use to determine its priorities (set goals)?

- Is there broad-based understanding of the goals and the processes to implement them? Is there institutional commitment to achieve identified goals?
- How well does the college implement its goals?
- Are goals articulated so that the institution can later determine the degree to which they have been met?
- To what extent does the college achieve its goals?
- 3. The institution assesses progress toward achieving its stated goals and makes decisions regarding the improvement of institutional effectiveness in an ongoing and systematic cycle of evaluation, integrated planning, resource allocation, implementation, and reevaluation. Evaluation is based on analyses of both quantitative and qualitative data.
 - To what extent does the institution understand and embrace the notion of ongoing planning?
 - Does the college have a planning process in place? Is it cyclical, i.e., does it incorporate systematic evaluation of programs and services, improvement planning, implementation, and re-evaluation? How does college budgeting of resources follow planning? How is planning integrated?
 - To what extent are institutional data available and used for planning? Are data analyzed and interpreted for easy understanding by the college community?
- 4. The institution provides evidence that the planning process is broad-based, offers opportunities for input by appropriate constituencies, allocates necessary resources, and leads to improvement of institutional effectiveness.
 - What mechanisms exist for participation in college planning?
 - How is broad involvement guaranteed?
 - To what extent does the college allocate resources to fulfill its plans?

- When resources to fulfill plans are not available, does the college identify and follow strategies to increase its capacity, i.e., seek alternate means for securing resources?
- What changes have occurred as a result of implemented plans?
- 5. The institution uses documented assessment results to communicate matters of quality assurance to appropriate constituencies.
 - What assessment data does the college collect?
 - By what means does the college make public its data and analyses internally and externally?
 - How does the college assess whether it is effectively communicating information about institutional quality to the public?
- 6. The institution assures the effectiveness of its ongoing planning and resource allocation processes by systematically reviewing and modifying, as appropriate, all parts of the cycle, including institutional and other research efforts.
 - What processes does the institution use to assess the effectiveness of its cycle of evaluation, integrated planning, resource allocation implementation, and re-evaluation?
 - How effective is the college planning process for fostering improvement?
- 7. The institution assesses its evaluation mechanisms through a systematic review of their effectiveness in improving instructional programs, student support services, and library and other learning support services.
 - What mechanisms does the institution use to gather evidence about the effectiveness of programs and services?
 - How effectively do evaluation processes and results contribute to improvement in programs and services?

Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard I

Listed below are examples of potential sources of evidence for Standard I. There may be many other sources that institutions should provide and teams should ask for.

Standard I: Institutional Mission and Effectiveness

A. Mission

- □ Evidence that analysis of how institutional goals and objectives are linked to the needs of the student population has taken place.
- Evidence of analysis of how the mission statement is developed, approved and communicated to all stakeholders.
- □ Evidence of analysis of the process used for the periodic review of the institution's mission; evidence that the process is inclusive.
- □ Evidence that the mission statement provides the preconditions for setting institutional goals.
- □ Evidence of analysis of how the cycle of evaluation, integrated planning, implementation, and re-evaluation relates to the mission and is used for institutional improvement.

B: Improving Institutional Effectiveness

- Evidence that the institution has developed processes by which continuous dialog about both student learning and institutional processes can take place.
- **□** Evidence of broad-based participation in the dialogue.
- Evidence that clearly-stated, measurable goals and objectives guide the college community in making decisions regarding planning and allocation of resources as well as curriculum and program development.
- □ Written, current institutional plans that describe ways in which the institution will achieve its goals.

Standard I: Institutional Mission and Effectiveness

B: Improving Institutional Effectiveness (continued)

- □ Evidence that the processes used in planning and institutional improvement are communicated and that they provide the means by which the college community can participate in decision-making.
- Evidence that goals are developed with the knowledge and understanding of the college community.
- Evidence that there exists a current cycle in which evaluation results are utilized in integrating planning, resource allocation, implementation, and re-evaluation.
- **D** Evidence that data is both quantitative and qualitative.
- □ Evidence that well-defined, decision-making processes and authority serve to facilitate planning and institutional effectiveness.
- □ Evidence of periodic and systematic assessment of the effectiveness of all institutional services and processes.
- Evidence that the results are disseminated to and understood by the college community.
- Evidence that results of periodic and systematic assessment are utilized for improvement.
- □ Evidence of current, systematic program review and implementation of results.
- □ Evidence that program review processes are systematically evaluated.

Standard II: Student Learning Programs and Services

The institution offers high-quality instructional programs, student support services, and library and learning support services that facilitate and demonstrate the achievement of stated student learning outcomes. The institution provides an environment that supports learning, enhances student understanding and appreciation of diversity, and encourages personal and civic responsibility as well as intellectual, aesthetic, and personal development for all of its students.

A. Instructional Programs

The institution offers high-quality instructional programs in recognized and emerging fields of study that culminate in identified student outcomes leading to degrees, certificates, employment, or transfer to other higher education institutions or programs consistent with its mission. Instructional programs are systematically assessed in order to assure currency, improve teaching and learning strategies, and achieve stated student learning outcomes. The provisions of this standard are broadly applicable to all instructional activities offered in the name of the institution.

- 1. The institution demonstrates that all instructional programs, regardless of location or means of delivery, address and meet the mission of the institution and uphold its integrity.¹
 - How does the institution ensure that all institutional offerings fit the stated mission of the institution?
 - How does the institution ensure that its programs and services are high quality and appropriate to an institution of higher education?
 - How does the institution choose the fields of study in which it offers programs? What are the student achievement outcomes of the institution's programs; i.e., to what extent do students progress through and complete degrees and certificates, gain employment, or transfer to four-year institutions? By what means are programs assessed for currency, teaching and learning strategies, and student learning outcomes?

- How does the institution ensure that its programs and curricula are current?
- a. The institution identifies and seeks to meet the varied educational needs of its students through programs consistent with their educational preparation and the diversity, demographics, and economy of its communities. The institution relies upon research and analysis to identify student learning needs and to assess progress toward achieving stated learning outcomes.
 - What research is conducted to inform what student learning needs are? What means does the institution use to assess students' educational preparation?
 - How is this information incorporated into program planning?
 - What kind of research is being conducted to determine if students are achieving stated learning outcomes?
- b. The institution utilizes delivery systems and modes of instruction compatible with the objectives of the curriculum and appropriate to the current and future needs of its students.¹
 - How does the institution determine that delivery of instruction fits the objectives and content of its courses?
 - How are delivery methods evaluated for their effectiveness in meeting student needs?
 - What dialogue is taking place about delivery systems and modes of instruction?
 - How effectively are delivery systems and modes of instruction facilitating student learning?
- c. The institution identifies student learning outcomes for courses programs, certificates, and degrees; assesses student achievement of those outcomes; and uses assessment results to make improvements.
 - What student learning outcomes has the institution identified for its courses, its programs, its certificates, its degrees?

- How and by whom are student learning outcomes and strategies for attaining them created? How and by whom are student learning outcomes and program outcomes assessed? How are the results used for improvement?
- Are student learning outcomes verifiably at the collegiate level? What assessments are in place for measuring these outcomes? How effectively are the assessments working?
- What dialogues have occurred about using assessment results to guide improvements to courses, programs, etc.? What improvements have resulted?
- 2. The institution assures the quality and improvement of all instructional courses and programs offered in the name of the institution, including collegiate, developmental, and pre-collegiate courses and programs, continuing and community education, study abroad, short-term training courses and programs, programs for international students, and contract or other special programs, regardless of type of credit awarded, delivery mode, or location.^{1, 2}
 - By what criteria and processes does the institution decide to offer developmental, pre-collegiate, continuing and community education, study abroad, short-term training, international student, or contract education programs?
 - Which of these (or other) categories of courses and programs does the institution offer?
 - By what means does the institution ensure that all of its instructional courses and programs are of high quality? Are they all of high quality?
 - What is the process for establishing and evaluating each type of course and program? How does the college determine the appropriate credit type, delivery mode, and location of its courses and programs?
 - Is the quality of all instructional courses and programs offered in the name of the institution ensured? Does the institution use evaluation of courses and programs effectively for improvement?

- a. The institution uses established procedures to design, identify learning outcomes for, approve, administer, deliver, and evaluate courses and programs. The institution recognizes the central role of its faculty for establishing quality and improving instructional courses and programs.
 - What established policies and institutional processes guide the development and evaluation of courses and programs? What is the role of faculty?
 - Do these procedures lead to assessment of quality and improvement? Who is responsible for identifying appropriate student learning outcomes?
 - Are student learning outcomes established for each course and program? How is this "fit" evaluated?
 - What processes exist to approve and administer courses and programs? Are the processes effective?
 - How are courses and programs evaluated? How often?
 What are the results of the evaluations?
 - What improvements to courses and programs have occurred as a result of evaluation? How does the institution assure that it relies on faculty discipline expertise for establishing the quality of its courses and programs?
- b. The institution relies on faculty expertise and the assistance of advisory committees when appropriate to identify competency levels and measurable student learning outcomes for courses, certificates, programs including general and vocational education, and degrees. The institution regularly assesses student progress towards achieving those outcomes.
 - How are competency levels and measurable student learning outcomes determined? What is the role of faculty? What is the role of advisory committees?
 - How has the institution structured the relationship between student learning outcomes, competency levels for degrees, certificates, programs, and courses?

- Do students have a clear path to achieving the student learning outcomes required of a course, program degree, certificate? How well does the institution achieve and evaluate the effectiveness of learning at each level?
- c. High-quality instruction and appropriate breadth, depth, rigor, sequencing, time to completion, and synthesis of learning characterize all programs.
 - How does the institution demonstrate the quality of its instruction? What eviednce exists all programs are characterized by the variables cited in this standard?
 - What institutional dialogue has occurred to enhance understanding and agreement about the quality and level of its programs?
 - What criteria does the college use in deciding on the breadth, depth, rigor, sequencing, time to completion, and synthesis of learning breadth of each program it offers?
 - What role do faculty play in these decisions? How does the college use these qualities (breadth, depth, etc.) to determine that a program is collegiate or pre-collegiate level?
- d. The institution uses delivery modes and teaching methodologies that reflect the diverse needs and learning styles of its students.¹
 - What assessment of student learning styles has the college performed?
 - How does the institution demonstrate that it is meeting the needs and learning styles of its students? What do faculty and staff know about learning needs and pedagogical approaches?
 - Do courses include multiple ways of assessing student learning? How does the college determine what delivery modes are appropriate for its students?

- What teaching methodologies are commonly used? How are methodologies selected? Have faculty discussed the relationship between teaching methodologies and student performance? What efforts has the college made to match methodologies with particular needs of students, with learning styles?
- Has the college investigated the effectiveness of its delivery modes? How effective are delivery modes and instructional methodologies that the college uses in producing learning?
- e. The institution evaluates all courses and programs through an ongoing systematic review of their relevance, appropriateness, achievement of learning outcomes, currency, and future needs and plans.
 - How does the college evaluate the effectiveness of its courses and programs?
 - Do criteria used in program review include relevancy, appropriateness, achievement of student learning outcomes, currency, planning for the future? Is this process consistently followed for all college programs, regardless of the type of program (collegiate, developmental, etc.)?
 - What types of data are available for program evaluation? Does the evaluation include a curricular review? Does the evaluation include a comprehensive review of the role of the program in the overall college curriculum?
 - How is the relevancy of a program determined? Have student learning outcomes for the program been identified? How well are student achieving these outcomes?
 - How are results of program evaluation used in institutional planning? What changes/improvements in programs have occurred as a result of the consideration of program evaluations?
- f. The institution engages in ongoing, systematic evaluation and integrated planning to assure currency and measure achievement of its stated student learning outcomes for courses, certificates, programs including general and vocational education, and degrees. The institution systematically strives to

improve those outcomes and makes the results available to appropriate constituencies.

- To what extent does the institution understand and embrace the notion of ongoing planning?
- Does the college have a planning process in place? Is it cyclical, i.e., does it incorporate systematic evaluation of programs and services, improvement planning, implementation, and re-evaluation? How does college budgeting of resources follow planning?
- To what extent are institutional data available and used for planning? Are data analyzed and interpreted for easy understanding by the college community?
- g. If an institution uses departmental course and/or program examinations, it validates their effectiveness in measuring student learning and minimizes test biases.
 - How does the institution ensure the use of non-biased valid measures of student learning?
- h. The institution awards credit based on student achievement of the course's stated learning outcomes. Units of credit awarded are consistent with institutional policies that reflect generally accepted norms or equivalencies in higher education.⁴
 - Are student learning outcomes the basis for credit awarded for courses? Are credits awarded consistent with accepted norms in higher education?
- i. The institution awards degrees and certificates based on student achievement of a program's stated learning outcomes.
 - By what means does the institution ensure that achievement of stated programmatic learning outcomes are the basis for awarding degrees and certificates?
 - What institutional dialogue has occurred about the learning expected of students in order for them to earn a degree or certificate?
 - How has the college identified student learning outcomes for its degrees and certificates?

- 3. The institution requires of all academic and vocational degree programs a component of general education based on a carefully considered philosophy that is clearly stated in its catalogue. The institution, relying on the expertise of its faculty, determines the appropriateness of each course for inclusion in the general education curriculum by examining the stated learning outcomes for the course.
 - What evidence is found in the catalogue of a faculty-developed rationale for general education that serves as the basis for inclusion of courses in general education?
 - How are student learning outcomes used to analyze courses for inclusion as general education?
 - How is the rationale for general education communicated to all stakeholders?
 - How is the general education philosophy reflected in the degree requirements?

General education has comprehensive learning outcomes for the students who complete it, including the following:

- a. An understanding of the basic content and methodology of the major areas of knowledge: areas include the humanities and fine arts, the natural sciences, and the social sciences.
 - How are the basic content and methodology of traditional areas of knowledge in general education determined?
 - What process is used to ensure that general education courses include this content and methodology?
 - Do general education courses demonstrate student achievement of comprehensive student learning outcomes?
 - Do student learning outcomes for general education courses require students to understand the basic content and methodology in the major areas of knowledge? Is there a consistent process for assuring that the content and methodology are included in course outlines?
 - How well are students able to apply their understanding to subsequent coursework, employment, or other endeavors?

- b. A capability to be a productive individual and life long learner: skills include oral and written communication, information competency, computer literacy, scientific and quantitative reasoning, critical analysis/logical thinking, and the ability to acquire knowledge through a variety of means.
 - What criteria have been developed to determine if general education students have attained these goals?
 - What criteria does the college use to assure that the required skill level meets collegiate standards? Is there a consistent process for assuring that expected skill levels are included in course outlines? What measures of student skill are employed? Is the college satisfied that these measures are effective?
 - How well are students achieving these outcomes? How well are students able to apply these skills to subsequent course-work, employment, or other endeavors?
- c. A recognition of what it means to be an ethical human being and effective citizen: qualities include an appreciation of ethical principles; civility and interpersonal skills; respect for cultural diversity; historical and aesthetic sensitivity; and the willingness to assume civic, political, and social responsibilities locally, nationally, and globally.
 - How are student learning outcomes developed to address concerns about ethics and effective citizenship? How is it determined where to include student learning leading to development of these qualities?
- 4. All degree programs include focused study in at least one area of inquiry or in an established interdisciplinary core.
 - Do degree programs include at least one area of focused study or interdisciplinary core?

- 5. Students completing vocational and occupational certificates and degrees demonstrate technical and professional competencies that meet employment and other applicable standards and are prepared for external licensure and certification.
 - What evidence exists that students who complete vocational and occupational degrees and certificates meet employment competencies? Are prepared for licensure? Are prepared for certification by external agencies?
 - How does the college acquire reliable information about its students' ability to meet these requirements?
- 6. The institution assures that students and prospective students receive clear and accurate information about educational courses and programs and transfer policies.⁴ The institution describes its degrees and certificates in terms of their purpose, content, course requirements, and expected student learning outcomes. In every class section students receive a course syllabus that specifies learning objectives consistent with those in the institution's officially approved course outline.
 - How does the institution assure that information about its programs is clear and accurate? Are degrees and certificates clearly described? Are student learning outcomes included in descriptions of courses and programs?
 - How does the institution verify that students receive a course syllabus that includes student learning outcomes?
 - How does the college verify that individual sections of courses adhere to the course objectives/learning outcomes?
 - a. The institution makes available to its students clearly stated transfer-of-credit policies in order to facilitate the mobility of students without penalty. In accepting transfer credits to fulfill degree requirements, the institution certifies that the expected learning outcomes for transferred courses are comparable to the learning outcomes of its own courses. Where patterns of student enrollment between institutions are identified, the institution develops articulation agreements as appropriate to its mission.⁴

- What policies does the institution have to address transfer of coursework in and out of the institution and how are they communicated to students? Are these policies regularly reviewed?
- How does the institution develop, implement, and evaluate articulation agreements?
- b. When programs are eliminated or program requirements are significantly changed, the institution makes appropriate arrangements so that enrolled students may complete their education in a timely manner with a minimum of disruption.³
 - What policy does the institution have to address elimination of or major changes in programs?
 - Are students advised on how to complete educational requirements when programs are eliminated or modified?
- c. The institution represents itself clearly, accurately, and consistently to prospective and current students, the public, and its personnel through its catalogs, statements, and publications, including those presented in electronic formats. It regularly reviews institutional policies, procedures, and publications to assure integrity in all representations about its mission, programs, and services.⁷
 - How does the institution conduct regular reviews of its policies and practices regarding publications to ensure their integrity? Are electronic representations of the institution regularly reviewed?
 - Does the institution provide information on student achievement to the public? Is that information accurate? Current?
- 7. In order to assure the academic integrity of the teaching-learning process, the institution uses and makes public governing board-adopted policies on academic freedom and responsibility, student academic honesty, and specific institutional beliefs or world views. These policies make clear the institution's commitment to the free pursuit and dissemination of knowledge.

- Do Board-approved policies on academic freedom exist and are they made public? Do Board approved policies on student academic honesty exist and are they made public?
- a. Faculty distinguishes between personal conviction and professionally accepted views in a discipline. They present data and information fairly and objectively.
 - What policies demonstrate institutional commitment to free pursuit and dissemination of knowledge?
 - How does the college communicate its expectation that faculty distinguish between personal conviction and professionally accepted views in a discipline? In what discussions have faculty engaged to deepen understanding of this expectation? How successfully does the faculty make this distinction in the classroom? What mechanisms does the college have for determining how effectively it is meeting this expectation?
- b. The institution establishes and publishes clear expectations concerning student academic honesty and consequences for dishonesty.
 - What mechanism does the institution have for informing students and faculty about, and enforcing, its policies on academic honesty?
- c. Institutions that require conformity to specific codes of conduct of staff, faculty, administrators, or students, or that seek to instill specific beliefs or world views, give clear prior notice of such policies, including statements in the catalog and/or appropriate faculty or student handbooks.
 - How are requirements of conformity to codes of conduct communicated?
 - If a college seeks to instill specific beliefs or world views, what policies does it have in place to detail these goals? How are the policies communicated to appropriate constituencies?

- 8. Institutions offering curricula in foreign locations to students other than U.S. nationals operate in conformity with standards and applicable Commission policies.²
 - How well do curricula offered in foreign locations to non-U.S. students conform to the specifications of Commission policy Principles of Good Practice in Overseas International Education Programs for Non-U.S. Nationals?

B. Student Support Services

The institution recruits and admits diverse students who are able to benefit from its programs, consistent with its mission. Student support services address the identified needs of students and enhance a supportive learning environment. The entire student pathway through the institutional experience is characterized by a concern for student access, progress, learning, and success. The institution systematically assesses student support services using student learning outcomes, faculty and staff input, and other appropriate measures in order to improve the effectiveness of these services.

- How does the institution determine that admitted students are able to benefit from its programs? How is this information applied to admissions policies and procedures?
- What college-wide discussions have occurred about how student access, progress, learning, and success are consistently supported?
- 1. The institution assures the quality of student support services and demonstrates that these services, regardless of location or means of delivery, support student learning and enhance achievement of the mission of the institution.^{1, 2}
 - By what means does the institution assure the quality of its student support services? How does the institution demonstrate that these services support student learning?

- 2. The institution provides a catalog for its constituencies with precise, accurate, and current information concerning the following:
 - a. General Information

Official Name, Address(es), Telephone Number(s), and Web Site Address of the Institution

- Educational Mission
- Course, Program, and Degree Offerings
- Academic Calendar and Program Length
- Academic Freedom Statement
- Available Student Financial Aid
- Available Learning Resources
- Names and Degrees of Administrators and Faculty
- Names of Governing Board Members
- b. Requirements
 - Admissions
 - Student Fees and Other Financial Obligations
 - Degree, Certificates, Graduation and Transfer
- c. Major Policies Affecting Students
 - Academic Regulations, including Academic Honesty
 - Nondiscrimination
 - Acceptance of Transfer Credits
 - Grievance and Complaint Procedures
 - Sexual Harassment
 - Refund of Fees
- d. Locations or Publications Where Other Policies May be Found
 - Is the catalog current, complete, clear, easy to understand, easy to use, well-structured?
 - How is the catalog reviewed for accuracy and currency? What process does the college use to ensure that the information in its publications is easily accessible to students, prospective students, and the public?
 - When policies are not included in the catalog, are the publications in which they are found easily accessible?

- Does the institution maintain records of student complaints/grievances and make them available to the team?
- 3. The institution researches and identifies the learning support needs of its student population and provides appropriate services and programs to address those needs.
 - By what means does the institution determine the support needs of its students? How well does it address these needs?
 - a. The institution assures equitable access to all of its students by providing appropriate, comprehensive, and reliable services to students regardless of service location or delivery method.¹
 - What evidence is provided that the institution assesses student needs for services regardless of location and provides for them?
 - How are on-line services and services at off-site locations evaluated? How well are services meeting the needs of students?
 - b. The institution provides an environment that encourages personal and civic responsibility, as well as intellectual, aesthetic, and personal development for all of its students.
 - What is the institution doing to provide a learning environment that promotes these personal attributes? What dialogues has the institution engaged in concerning what constitutes a good learning environment?
 - What programs or services has the institution determined contribute to this environment? What areas have been identified for improvement? How does the college evaluate its efforts in this area? How are the results of the evaluations used to improve the environment?
 - c. The institution designs, maintains, and evaluates counseling and/or academic advising programs to support student development and success and prepares faculty and other personnel responsible for the advising function.
 - Does the institution develop, implement, and evaluate counseling and/or academic advising?

- Does the evaluation of counseling and/or academic advising include how it enhances student development and success?
- Are those responsible for counseling/advising trained?
- d. The institution designs and maintains appropriate programs, practices, and services that support and enhance student understanding and appreciation of diversity.
 - What does the institution do to promote student understanding and appreciation of diversity? What measures does the institution use to determine the effectiveness of services?
- e. The institution regularly evaluates admissions and placement instruments and practices to validate their effectiveness while minimizing biases.
 - What processes are used to evaluate the effectiveness of practices and tools of admissions? What evaluations of placement processes are used to ensure their consistency and effectiveness? How are cultural and linguistic bias in the instruments and processes minimized?
- f. The institution maintains student records permanently, securely, and confidentially, with provision for secure backup of all files, regardless of the form in which those files are maintained. The institution publishes and follows established policies for release of student records.
 - What institutional policies govern the maintenance of student records? Are records secure? Does the institution have a policy for release of student records?
- 4. The institution evaluates student support services to assure their adequacy in meeting identified student needs. Evaluation of these services provides evidence that they contribute to the achievement of student learning outcomes. The institution uses the results of these evaluations as the basis for improvement.
 - How does the institution provide for systematic and regular review of its student support services? How are the results used?

Does the evaluation assess how student support services contribute to the achievement of student learning outcomes? How are evaluation results used to improve services?

C. Library and Learning Support Services

Library and other learning support services for students are sufficient to support the institution's instructional programs and intellectual, aesthetic, and cultural activities in whatever format and wherever they are offered. Such services include library services and collections, tutoring, learning centers, computer laboratories, and learning technology development and training. The institution provides access and training to students so that library and other learning support services may be used effectively and efficiently. The institution systematically assesses these services using student learning outcomes, faculty input, and other appropriate measures in order to improve the effectiveness of the services.

- 1. The institution supports the quality of its instructional programs by providing library and other learning support services that are sufficient in quantity, currency, depth, and variety to facilitate educational offerings, regardless of location or means of delivery.¹
 - a. Relying on appropriate expertise of faculty, including librarians and other learning support services professionals, the institution selects and maintains educational equipment and materials to support student learning and enhance the achievement of the mission of the institution.
 - What information about student learning needs is provided by other instructional faculty and staff to inform selection of library resources?
 - How does the institution assess the effectiveness of its own library collection in terms of quantity, quality, depth and variety?
 - What is the quality determined as necessary by the institution?
 - How does the institution know it has sufficient depth and variety of materials to meet the learning needs of its students?
 - What information does the library use to determine whether it is enhancing student achievement of identified learning outcomes?

- b. The institution provides ongoing instruction for users of library and other learning support services so that students are able to develop skills in information competency.
 - What are the information competencies that the institution purports to teach all students? What is the evidence that the institution acts purposefully to teach these competencies?
 - How does the institution assess the competencies in information retrieval/use that it teaches students? How does the institution evaluate its teaching effectiveness and set goals for improvement?
- c. The institution provides students and personnel responsible for student learning programs and services adequate access to the library and other learning support services, regardless of their location or means of delivery.¹
 - What are the hours of operation of the library?
 - What is the availability of electronic access to library materials?
 - Are all campus locations/all types of students/all college instructional programs equally supported by library services and accessibility?
- d. The institution provides effective maintenance and security for its library and other learning support services.
- e. When the institution relies on or collaborates with other institutions or other sources for library and other learning support services for its instructional programs, it documents that formal agreements exist and that such resources and services are adequate for the institution's intended purposes, are easily accessible, and utilized. The performance of these services is evaluated on a regular basis. The institution takes responsibility for and assures the reliability of all services provided either directly or through contractual arrangement.
 - What contracts, if any, exist for the provision of library and learning support services? What processes does the

institution have for evaluating and ensuring the quality of those contracted services? How does the institution gather information to assess whether the services are being used?

- 2. The institution evaluates library and other learning support services to assure their adequacy in meeting identified student needs. Evaluation of these services provides evidence that they contribute to the achievement of student learning outcomes. The institution uses the results of these evaluations as the basis for improvement.
 - What methods does the institution use to evaluate its library and other learning support services? Does the evaluation assess use, access, and relationship of the services to intended student learning? Does the evaluation include input by faculty, staff and students?

Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard II

Listed below are examples of potential sources of evidence for Standard II. There may be many other sources that institutions should provide and teams should ask for.

Standard II: Student Learning Programs and Services

A. Instructional Programs

- □ Evidence that all instructional offerings are in keeping with the institution's mission regardless of where and how they are taught.
- Evidence that the quality of all programs is consistently determined to meet a high standard.
- Evidence of analytical reviews demonstrating that instructional programs are relevant to the interest, needs, goals, and aspirations of the students served by the institution.
- □ Evidence that students are achieving stated learning outcomes.
- Evidence that the institution considers how instruction is delivered and how it assesses that delivery is both appropriate and current.
- Evidence of the development of student learning outcomes and strategies for attaining those outcomes at the course, program, certificate and degree level.
- □ Evidence of assessment of student learning and program outcomes.
- **D** Evidence of assessment of student achievement data.
- □ Evidence of review of assessment results and utilization for improvement of student learning.
- Evidence that an institutional process exists for determining the quality of all courses and programs.
- Evidence that established procedures are used to develop courses and programs and that faculty play a major role in this endeavor.
- Evidence for a faculty-driven assessment plan that includes systematic evaluation and integrated planning of student learning outcomes for all courses, certificates, programs, and degrees.

- Evidence that systematic evaluation and review of student progress toward achieving learning outcomes take place.
- **□** Evidence of the role played by advisory committees.
- □ Evidence that instructional offerings are in appropriate areas of academic study given the institution's mission.
- Evidence that programs are appropriately sequenced to provide the bases for subsequent courses.
- Evidence that courses are of sufficient content, breadth, and length to permit the student to learn and practice expected knowledge, skills, and abilities.
- □ Evidence that the institution concerns itself with pedagogy that addresses student needs and learning styles.
- □ Evidence that diverse methods of instruction are used and that students are exposed to a variety of points of view.
- □ Evidence of regular, systematic evaluation and review of instructional courses and programs, using consistent and valid research strategies.
- **D** Evidence that evaluation results are used for improvement.
- Evidence that elements assessed include measures of student learning.
- □ Evidence for an assessment plan that includes systematic evaluation and integrated planning of student learning outcomes for all courses, certificates, programs, and degrees.
- **D** Evidence that results of evaluation are disseminated.
- □ Evidence that results of evaluation are used for improvement.
- Evidence of a process for validating the effectiveness of examinations in assessing student learning.
- □ Evidence that placement tests are examined for biases.

- Evidence that the institution has developed a means for awarding credit based on student learning outcomes.
- Evidence that credits awarded are consistent with accepted higher education practices.
- Evidence that the college uses student achievement of stated learning outcomes in awarding credit for degrees and certificates.
- Evidence that a consistent process for examining student learning outcomes is used to analyze courses for inclusion as general education.
- □ Evidence that the rationale for general education is communicated to students, employers, and other constituencies.
- Evidence that content and methodology is determined by appropriate discipline faculty.
- Evidence that the institution has determined standards for the skills in general education.
- Evidence that students who complete general education programs are proficient in these general education skills.
- Evidence that the program of general education includes student learning outcomes concerning values, ethics, civic responsibility, and diverse perspectives.
- Evidence that students who complete vocational and occupational degrees and certificates meet employment competencies, are prepared for certification by external agencies, are prepared for licensure.
- Evidence that clear and complete information about degrees and certificates is made available to students in publications and course syllabi.
- □ Evidence that transfer policies are made available to students.

- Evidence that transferred courses accepted are comparable to the college's student learning outcomes for courses.
- Evidence that articulation agreements exist and are regularly evaluated.
- Evidence that students are able to complete programs that undergo change or are eliminated.
- Evidence that students are advised on what they must do to complete such programs.
- □ Evidence that publications and other representations of the college are regularly reviewed for clarity and accuracy.
- □ Evidence that institutional policies are regularly reviewed to ensure integrity.
- Evidence that the institution provides the public with information about student achievement.
- □ Evidence of board-approved and distributed policies on academic freedom and student academic honesty.
- **□** Evidence that these policies are followed.
- □ Evidence of faculty awareness and commitment to fair and objective presentation of knowledge.
- □ Evidence that a colleges espousing specific world views or codes of conduct make policies clear in publications provided in advance of enrollment or employment.

B. Student Support Services

- □ Evidence that the institution systematically evaluates its student support services in light of its stated mission.
- □ Evidence that student support services support learning.
- □ Evidence that the catalog contains items specified in Standards IIB.2.a, IIB.2.b and IIB.2.c, IIB.2.d.

- Evidence that the institution assesses student needs for services and provides for them.
- Evidence that the institution assesses student needs for services regardless of location and provides them.
- □ Evidence that activities encouraging personal development are made available to students.
- Evidence that the institution develops, implements, and evaluates counseling and/or academic advising.
- □ Evidence that evaluation of counseling and/or academic advising includes how it enhances student development and success.
- □ Evidence that those responsible for counseling/advising are trained.
- Evidence that the institution develops, implements, and evaluates the effectiveness of services in enhancing student understanding and appreciation of diversity.
- □ Evidence that admissions practices and placement instruments are regularly evaluated.
- **□** Evidence that placement instruments are valid and minimize bias.
- □ Evidence that student records are kept confidential and secure.
- **D** Evidence for how student records are released.
- Evidence that review of student service programs is regularly conducted and that the results are used for improvement.
- Evidence that analysis of review of student service programs includes verification that services contribute to student learning outcomes.
- Evidence that the institution maintains a file of student complaints/grievances.

C. Library and Learning Support Services

- □ Evidence that includes the evaluation instruments, their analysis, conclusions and plans for improvement of the library and learning support services, evidence that improvements are planned and implemented.
- **D** Evidence that shows quantity, quality, depth and variety:
 - *Description of quantity:* Number of volumes, number of periodicals, description of number and kinds of technological resources or equipment, including computers, microfiche machines, video equipment, audio tapes, CD ROM's and other data source, number of "seats" available in Library and LRC.
- **□** Evidence that shows ongoing instruction:
 - List of courses, workshops and other training held each academic year and attendance.
 - Course or workshop outlines, materials used in training, including identified learning outcomes.
- □ Evidence that the library evaluates the effectiveness of student learning during courses, workshops on information competency and use of the LLSS.
- Evidence that data linking purchases to educational programs and SLO's defined by educational programs and by assessments of student learning.
- □ A description of library acquisition plans related to educational plans.
 - Data and analyses of the institutional evaluations of library holdings by faculty (or disciplines or programs), students, and any external reviewers.
 - Other analyses showing relationship between library use and student learning.

- Evidence that includes a description of hours of operation or access, description of remote access to Library and LRC holdings, capacity of the remote means of delivery, any contingencies on turn around time, limits to access relative to on-campus students.
- Evidence that holdings are related to educational programs and that all educational program needs have adequate materials in the library.
- □ Evidence that there is access to Library and LSS for remote students/staff institutional policies on remote access, including personnel policies that describe access provided to educational staff.
 - Description of remote access practice—computer based, circulation of volumes, etc., for each remote site or population.
 - Description of use of Library and LSS by remote users students, faculty.
- Evidence that includes istitutional maintenance schedules, capital improvement plans. Description of security provisions for library holdings. Any institutional self-assessments of adequacy of same.
 - Institutional plans for improvement of L and LSS.
- Evidence that includes the formal agreements or contracts themselves, and evidence therein of the accredited institution's expectations for services.
 - Description of the contracted/collaborated services quantity, quality, depth and currency, as in a, b, c and d, above.
 - Results of evaluation of the contracted/collaborated L and LSS.
 - Provisions of the contract that provide for accredited institution's control of quality or ability to influence quality of contracted/collaborated service.

Standard III: Resources

The institution effectively uses its human, physical, technology, and financial resources to achieve its broad educational purposes, including stated student learning outcomes, and to improve institutional effectiveness.

A. Human Resources

The institution employs qualified personnel to support student learning programs and services wherever offered and by whatever means delivered, and to improve institutional effectiveness. Personnel are treated equitably, are evaluated regularly and systematically, and are provided opportunities for professional development. Consistent with its mission, the institution demonstrates its commitment to the significant educational role played by persons of diverse backgrounds by making positive efforts to encourage such diversity. Human resource planning is integrated with institutional planning.

- 1. The institution assures the integrity and quality of its programs and services by employing personnel who are qualified by appropriate education, training, and experience to provide and support these programs and services.
 - What methods does the institution use to assure that qualifications for each position are closely matched to specific programmatic needs? What analyses and discussions have led the institution to agree on those needs?
 - Are the institution's personnel sufficiently qualified to guarantee the integrity of programs and services?
 - a. Criteria, qualifications, and procedures for selection of personnel are clearly and publicly stated. Job descriptions are directly related to institutional mission and goals and accurately reflect position duties, responsibilities, and authority. Criteria for selection of faculty include knowledge of the subject matter or service to be performed (as determined by individuals with discipline expertise), effective teaching, scholarly, and potential to

contribute to the mission of the institution. Institutional faculty play a significant role in selection of new faculty. Degrees held by faculty and administrators are from institutions accredited by recognized U.S. accrediting agencies. Degrees from non-U.S. institutions are recognized only if equivalence has been established.⁴

- How does the institution decide on hiring criteria?
- How are faculty involved in the selection of new faculty?
- How does the college decide an applicant is well qualified?
- How does the college know that the faculty selected have knowledge of their subject matter?
- By what methods does the college define and evaluate "effective teaching" in its hiring processes? How is that effectiveness judged?
- How does the college define and judge scholarship in a candidate, and by what means does it judge a candidate's potential to contribute to a college mission?
- How are jobs advertised?
- By what means does the institution verify the qualifications of applicants and newly hired personnel?
- How does the college check the equivalency of degrees from non-U.S. institutions?
- What evidence is there that hiring processes yield highly qualified employees?
- What safeguards are in place to assure that hiring procedures are constantly applied?
- b. The institution assures the effectiveness of its human resources by evaluating all personnel systematically and at stated intervals. The institution establishes written criteria for evaluating all personnel, including performance of assigned duties and participation in institutional responsibilities and other activities appropriate to their expertise. Evaluation processes seek to assess effectiveness of personnel and encourage improvement. Actions taken following evaluations are formal, timely, and documented.
 - How does the college decide on appropriate institutional responsibilities for personnel participation? How is participation judged?
 - What process is in place to assure that evaluations lead to improvement of job performance?
 - What is the connection between personnel evaluations and institutional effectiveness and improvement?
 - Do evaluation criteria measure the effectiveness of personnel in performing their duties?
- c. Faculty and others directly responsible for student progress toward achieving stated student learning outcomes have, as a component of their evaluation, effectiveness in producing those learning outcomes.
 - What are the roles of teachers, tutors, and others in producing student learning outcomes?
 - What deep thinking have faculty, as individuals and collectively, engaged in about how well students are learning in their courses and programs? What measures have they, again as individuals and collectively, created or selected to measure that learning?
 - What discussions have faculty had about how to improve learning? What plans have been made?
 - What changes have faculty made in teaching methodologies to improve learning?

- What changes in course content or sequencing have resulted from analyses of how well students are mastering course content?
- What methods has the institution developed to evaluate effectiveness in producing student learning outcomes? Are these methods yielding meaningful and useful results?
- How does the institution use analysis of the results of assessment to improve student learning outcomes?
- How has staff development supported faculty performance in satisfactory development and assessment of student learning outcomes?
- d. The institution upholds a written code of professional ethics for all of its personnel.
 - How does the institution foster ethical behavior in its employees?
 - Does the institution have a written code of professional ethics for all its personnel?
- 2. The institution maintains a sufficient number of qualified faculty with full-time responsibility to the institution. The institution has a sufficient number of staff and administrators with appropriate preparation and experience to provide the administrative services necessary to support the institution's mission and purposes.
 - By what means does the institution determine appropriate staffing levels for each program and service?
 - How does the institution decide on the organization of administrative and support staffing?
 - How effectively does the number and organization of the institution's personnel work to support its programs and services? How does the institution evaluate this effectiveness?
- 3. The institution systematically develops personnel policies and procedures that are available for information and review. Such policies and procedures are equitably and consistently administered.
 - What processes does the institution use to develop and publicize its personnel policies?

- How does the institution ensure that it administers its personnel policies and procedures consistently and equitably? Do these policies and processes result in fair treatment of personnel?
- a. The institution establishes and adheres to written policies ensuring fairness in all employment procedures.
- b. The institution makes provision for the security and confidentiality of personnel records. Each employee has access to his/her personnel records in accordance with law.
 - What are the institution's provisions for keeping personnel records secure and confidential?
 - How does the institution provide employees access to their records?
- 4. The institution demonstrates through policies and practices an appropriate understanding of and concern for issues of equity and diversity.
 - In what ways does the institution foster an appreciation for diversity?
 - How effective are the institution's policies and practices in promoting understanding of equity and diversity issues? How does the institution know these policies and practices are effective?
 - a. The institution creates and maintains appropriate programs, practices, and services that support its diverse personnel.
 - How does the institution determine what kinds of support its personnel need?
 - How does the institution design programs and services that provide for the range of diverse personnel at the institution?
 - What programs and services does the institution have to support its personnel? How effective are these programs?

- b. The institution regularly assesses that its record in employment equity and diversity is consistent with its mission.
 - What is the institution's record on employment equity and diversity?
 - How does the institution track and analyze its employment equity record? How does it use this information?
- c. The institution subscribes to, advocates, and demonstrates integrity in the treatment of its administration, faculty, staff and students.
 - What policies and procedures about the treatment of personnel does the institution have in place?
 - How does the institution ensure that its personnel and students are treated fairly?
- 5. The institution provides all personnel with appropriate opportunities for continued professional development, consistent with the institutional mission and based on identified teaching and learning needs.
 - a. The institution plans professional development activities to meet the needs of its personnel.
 - b. With the assistance of the participants, the institution systematically evaluates professional development programs and uses the results of these evaluations as the basis for improvement.
 - What professional development programs does the institution support?
 - How does the institution identify teaching and learning needs of its faculty and other personnel?
 - What processes ensure that professional development opportunities address those needs?
 - How does the college ensure meaningful evaluation of professional development activities?

- What impact do professional development activities have on the improvement of teaching and learning? How does the institution evaluate that improvement?
- 6. Human resource planning is integrated with institutional planning. The institution systematically assesses the effective use of human resources and uses the results of the evaluation as the basis for improvement.
 - By what process does the institution assess the use of its human resources?
 - How does the institution ensure that human resource decisions emanate from institutional needs and plans for improvement? Specifically, what evidence is there that the institution bases its human resource decisions on the results of evaluation of program and service needs?
 - How does the institution determine that human resource needs in program and service areas are met effectively?

B. Physical Resources

Physical resources, which include facilities, equipment, land, and other assets, support student learning programs and services and improve institutional effectiveness. Physical resource planning is integrated with institutional planning.

- 1. The institution provides safe and sufficient physical resources that support and assure the integrity and quality of its programs and services, regardless of location or means of delivery.
 - Against what criteria and by what processes does the institution evaluate the safety of its facilities?
 - Upon what data has the institution determined the sufficiency of its classrooms, lecture halls, laboratories, and other facilities? What mechanisms does the college employ to evaluate how effectively facilities meet the needs of programs and services?

- How well does the institution meet its facilities needs? Does the institution use the same criteria and processes for determining safety and sufficiency of facilities at off-campus sites? To what extent are off-campus sites safe and sufficient?
- How does the college use the results of facilities evaluations to improve them? Does the college employ similar processes to assure the safety and sufficiency of its equipment?
- How does the institution support the equipment needs of the distance delivery modes it offers? Are institutional needs for equipment met?
- a. The institution plans, builds, maintains, and upgrades or replaces its physical resources in a manner that assures effective utilization and the continuing quality necessary to support its programs and services.
 - How does the institution consider the needs of programs and services when planning its buildings?
 - What processes ensure that program and service needs determine equipment replacement and maintenance?
 - How does the institution evaluate effectiveness of facilities and equipment in meeting the needs of programs and services?
 - How effectively does the institution use its physical resources?
- b. The institution assures that physical resources at all locations where it offers courses, programs, and services are constructed and maintained to assure access, safety, security, and a healthful learning and working environment.
 - How does the institution assure access to its facilities?
 - How does the institution ensure that it maintains sufficient control over off-site facilities to ensure their quality?

- 2. To assure the feasibility and effectiveness of physical resources in supporting institutional programs and services, the institution plans and evaluates its facilities and equipment on a regular basis, taking utilization and other relevant data into account.
 - By what process does the institution assess the use of its facilities? How often does the evaluation occur?
 - How does the college use the results of the evaluation to improve facilities or equipment?
 - a. Long-range capital plans support institutional improvement goals and reflect projections of the total cost of ownership of new facilities and equipment.
 - What process does the institution follow to make capital plans? How are long-range capital projects linked to institutional planning?
 - What elements comprise the definition of "total cost of ownership" the institution uses when making decisions about facilities and equipment?
 - How do planning processes ensure that capital projects support college goals? How effectively is long-range capital planning helping the college to achieve improvement goals?
 - b. Physical resource planning is integrated with institutional planning. The institution systematically assesses the effective use of physical resources and uses the results of the evaluation as the basis for improvement.
 - How does the institution ensure that facilities decisions emanate from institutional needs and plans for improvement?
 - What evidence is there that the institution bases its physical resource decisions on the results of evaluation of program and service needs? How does the institution prioritize needs when making decisions about equipment purchases?
 - How does the institution determine that physical resource needs in program and service areas are met effectively? How effectively are those needs met?

C. Technology Resources

Technology resources are used to support student learning programs and services and to improve institutional effectiveness. Technology planning is integrated with institutional planning.

- 1. The institution assures that any technology support it provides is designed to meet the needs of learning, teaching, college-wide communications, research, and operational systems.
 - How does the institution make sure that its various types of technology needs are identified?
 - If the college is not supported by technology, how did the college make that decision?
 - How does the institution evaluate the effectiveness of its technology in meeting its range of needs? How effectively are those needs met?
 - a. Technology services, professional support, facilities, hardware, and software are designed to enhance the operation and effectiveness of the institution.
 - How does the institution make decisions about technology services, facilities, hardware, and software?
 - How well does technology accommodate the college's curricular commitments for distance learning programs and courses? Whether technology is provided directly by the institution or through contractual arrangements, are there provisions for reliability, disaster recovery, privacy, and security?
 - b. The institution provides quality training in the effective application of its information technology to students and personnel.
 - How does the institution assess the need for information technology training for students and personnel?

- What technology training does the institution provide to students and personnel? How does the institution ensure that the training and technical support it provides for faculty and staff are appropriate and effective? How effective is the training provided?
- c. The institution systematically plans, acquires, maintains, and upgrades or replaces technology infrastructure and equipment to meet institutional needs.
 - How has the institution provided for the management, maintenance, and operation of its technological infrastructure and equipment?
 - Does the college provide appropriate system reliability and emergency backup?
- d. The distribution and utilization of technology resources support the development, maintenance, and enhancement of its programs and services.
 - How does the institution make decisions about use and distribution of its technology resources?
 - What provisions has the institution made to assure a robust and secure technical infrastructure, providing maximum reliability for students and faculty?
 - What policies or procedures does the institution have in place to keep the infrastructure reasonably up-to-date?
 - Does the institution give sufficient consideration to equipment selected for distance programs? How effectively is technology distributed and used?
- 2. Technology planning is integrated with institutional planning. The institution systematically assesses the effective use of technology resources and uses the results of evaluation as the basis for improvement.
 - How does the institution ensure that facilities decisions emanate from institutional needs and plans for improvement?

- What evidence is there that the institution bases its technology decisions on the results of evaluation of program and service needs?
- How does the institution determine that technology needs in program and service areas are met effectively?
- How does the institution prioritize needs when making decisions about technology purchases? How effectively are those needs met?

D. Financial Resources

Financial resources are sufficient to support student learning programs and services and to improve institutional effectiveness. The distribution of resources supports the development, maintenance, and enhancement of programs and services. The institution plans and manages its financial affairs with integrity and in a manner that ensures financial stability. The level of financial resources provides a reasonable expectation of both short-term and long-term financial solvency. Financial resources planning is integrated with institutional planning.

- What is the institution's overall budget?
- Does it have sufficient revenues to support educational improvements?
- Does the resource allocation process provide a means for setting priorities for funding institutional improvements?
- 1. The institution relies upon its mission and goals as the foundation for financial planning.
 - a. Financial planning is integrated with and supports all institutional planning.
 - Does the institution review its mission and goals as part of the annual fiscal planning process?
 - Does the institution identify goals for achievement in any given budget cycle?

- Does the institution establish priorities among competing needs so that it can predict future funding? Do institutional plans exist, and are they linked clearly to financial plans, both short term and long range?
- Does the financial planning process rely primarily on institutional plans for content and timelines?
- Can the institution provide evidence that past fiscal expenditures have supported achievement of institutional plans?
- Does the Board and other institutional leadership receive information about fiscal planning that demonstrates its links to institutional planning?
- b. Institutional planning reflects realistic assessment of financial resource availability, development of financial resources, partnerships, and expenditure requirements.
 - Do individuals involved in institutional planning receive accurate information about available funds, including the annual budget showing ongoing and anticipated fiscal commitments?
 - Does the institution establish funding priorities in some fashion that helps the institution achieve its goals in reasonable fashion? Are items focused on student learning given appropriate priority? What other documents describing funding priorities are used by institutional planners?
- c. When making short-range financial plans, the institution considers its long-range financial priorities to assure financial stability. The institution clearly identifies and plans for payment of liabilities and future obligations.
 - What evidence of long term fiscal planning and priorities exits?
 - Does the institution have plans for payments of long term liabilities and obligations, including debt, health benefits, insurance costs, building maintenance costs, etc? Is this information used in short term or annual budget and other fiscal planning?

- d. The institution clearly defines and follows its guidelines and processes for financial planning and budget development with all constituencies having appropriate opportunities to participate in the development of institutional plans and budgets.
 - Where or how are the processes for financial planning and budget recorded and made known to college constituents?
- 2. To assure the financial integrity of the institution and responsible use of financial resources, the financial management system has appropriate control mechanisms and widely disseminates dependable and timely information for sound financial decision making.
 - a. Financial documents, including the budget and independent audit, reflect appropriate allocation and use of financial resources to support student learning programs and services. Institutional responses to external audit findings are comprehensive, timely, and communicated appropriately.
 - Are funds allocated, as shown in the budget, in a manner that will realistically achieve the institution's stated goals for student learning?
 - What do the audit statements say about financial management?
 - Does the institution provide timely corrections to audit exceptions and management advice?
 - b. Appropriate financial information is provided throughout the institution.
 - What information about budget, about fiscal conditions, about financial planning and about audit results is provided through out the college? Is this information sufficient in content and timing to support institutional and financial planning and financial management?
 - c. The institution has sufficient cash flow and reserves to maintain stability, strategies for appropriate risk management, and realistic plans to meet financial emergencies and unforeseen occurrences.

- What is the ending balance of unrestricted funds for the institution's immediate past three years. Is this amount sufficient to maintain a reserve needed for emergencies?
- Does the institution have any other access to cash should the need arise?
- How does the institution receive its revenues? Does this receipt pose cash flow difficulties for the college? If so, how does the college address cash flow difficulties? (e.g., COPS, loans)?
- Has the institution sufficient insurance to cover its needs? Is the institution self-funded in any insurance categories? If so, does it have sufficient reserves to handle financial emergencies?
- d. The institution practices effective oversight of finances, including management of financial aid, grants, externally funded programs, contractual relationships, auxiliary organizations or foundations, and institutional investments and assets.
 - What are the institution's procedures for reviewing fiscal management? Are those regularly implemented?
 - What evidence about fiscal management is provided by external audits and financial program reviews?
 - Has the institution received any audit findings or negative reviews during the last six years?
- e. All financial resources, including those from auxiliary activities, fund-raising efforts, and grants are used with integrity in a manner consistent with the mission and goals of the institution.
 - Are the institution's special funds audited or reviewed by funding agencies regularly?
 - Do the audits demonstrate the integrity of financial management practices?

- f. Contractual agreements with external entities are consistent with themission and goals of the institution, governed by institutional policies, and contain appropriate provisions to maintain the integrity of the institution.⁵
 - What contractual agreements exist, and are they consistent with institutional mission and goals?
 - Does the institution have appropriate control over these contracts? Can it change or terminate contracts that don't meet its required standards of quality?
- g. The institution regularly evaluates its financial management processes, and the results of the evaluation are used to improve financial management systems.
 - Does the institution have an annual external audit to provide feedback on its processes?
 - Does the institution review the effectiveness of its past fiscal planning as part of planning for current and future fiscal needs?
- 3. The institution systematically assesses the effective use of financial resources and uses the results of the evaluation as the basis for improvement.
 - What processes does the institution use to assess its use of financial resources?
 - How does the institution ensure that it assesses its use of financial resources systematically and effectively?
 - How does the institution use results of the evaluation as the basis for improvement?

Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard III

Listed below are examples of potential sources of evidence for Standard III. There may be many other sources which institutions should provide and teams should ask for.

Standard III Resources

A. Human Resources

- Evidence about how the institution determines human resource needs of programs and services.
- □ Evidence that the institution uses analyses in determining hiring priorities.
- □ Evidence, such as planning meeting minutes, that the institution systematically considers and relies on needs of programs and services in determining hiring priorities.
- □ Evidence that the institution has a reasonable means for deciding what employee qualifications are needed for each position.
- □ Evidence that the institution uses a clear and reasonable process for determining personnel selection criteria.
- □ Evidence that hiring procedures are written and consistently applied.
- □ Evidence that the institution verifies employee degrees, experience, and references of newly hired personnel.
- □ Evidence of a systematic process for determining personnel evaluation criteria.
- **D** Evidence that evaluation criteria are based on job responsibilities.
- **□** Evidence that evaluation processes are written and followed.
- **D** Evidence that evaluations are conducted regularly.
- Evidence that the institution uses the results of personnel evaluations for improvement.

- Evidence that the institution evaluates the effectiveness in producing student learning outcomes of teachers, tutors, and others involved in the teaching-learning process.
- □ Evidence that the institution applies an ethics document or documents for all personnel.
- **□** Evidence that the institution employs a core of full-time faculty.
- □ Evidence that the institution employs qualified administrators and support staff in sufficient numbers.
- □ Evidence that the institution administers its personnel policies consistently and fairly.
- **□** Evidence that the institution maintains personnel records safely.
- □ Evidence about how the institution provides employees access to their records.
- Evidence that the institution has written policies on equity and diversity.
- □ Evidence that the institution is sensitive to issues of equity and diversity.
- □ Evidence that programs and services are designed to provide for the range of personnel needs at the institution.
- Evidence about how the institution tracks, analyzes, and uses its employment equity record.
- Evidence about how the institution treats its personnel and students.
- Evidence about how the institution uses identified teaching and learning needs to determine professional development opportunities.
- Evidence that the institution evaluates professional development needs of its personnel.
- Evidence that the institution bases its programs on identified needs.

- □ Evidence about how participants are involved in the programs' evaluation.
- □ Evidence that the institution assesses the use of its human resources.
- □ Evidence that institutional plans determine human resource allocation priorities.
- Evidence that human resource decisions are based on the results of evaluation of program and service needs.

B. Physical Resources

- Evidence about how the institution evaluates the safety and sufficiency of its facilities.
- Evidence that the institution provides adequate facilities for its programs and services.
- Evidence that off-campus sites are adequate to support programs conducted at those sites.
- □ Evidence that equipment supports the needs of its programs and services.
- □ Evidence that equipment supports the needs of the distance modes of delivery the college offers.
- Evidence about how the institution plans and maintains its facilities.
- Evidence that the institution has considered the total cost of ownership when making decisions about facilities and equipment.
- Evidence that the institution's bases its building plans on the needs of programs and services.
- Evidence that the institution has replacement and maintenance plans for equipment.
- □ Evidence that the institution uses its facilities and equipment effectively.

- Evidence about how the institution constructs and maintains its facilities at all locations.
- **□** Evidence about how the institution evaluates its facilities.
- □ Evidence about how the institution evaluates the physical resources needs of its programs and services.
- Evidence about how the institution plans its facilities.
- □ Evidence about how the institution makes decisions about equipment purchases.
- □ Evidence that long-range capital projects are based on institutional planning.
- Evidence that the institution assesses the use of its physical resources.
- □ Evidence that institutional plans determine physical resource priorities.
- Evidence that physical resource decisions are based on the results of evaluation of program and service needs.

C. Technology Resources

- Evidence about how the institution evaluates how well its technology meets the needs of its programs and services.
- Evidence about how the institution evaluates how well its technology meets the need for college-wide communications, research, and operational systems.
- Evidence about how the institution makes decisions about technology services, facilities, hardware, and software.
- Evidence about how the institution evaluates the effectiveness of its technology.
- Evidence that the institution assesses the need for information technology training for students and personnel.

- Evidence that training is designed to meet the needs of students and personnel.
- □ Evidence about how the institution plans and maintains its technology. infrastructure and equipment.
- □ Evidence that the institution bases its technology plans on the needs of programs and services.
- Evidence that the institution has replacement and maintenance plans for its technology.
- □ Evidence about how the institution uses and distributes its technology resources.
- Evidence about how the institution assesses the technology needs of its programs and services.
- □ Evidence that the institution assesses the use of its technology resources.
- □ Evidence that institutional plans determine technology resource priorities.
- Evidence that technology resource decisions are based on the results of evaluation of program and service needs.

D. Financial Resources

- □ Evidence that includes copies of annual budget, audits for past three years, financial plans associated with institutional plans, budget documents prepared to grant and other external funding, data showing financial planning is regularly evaluated and the results of that evaluation, documents showing institutional fiscal commitments for foreseeable future, including contracts for services, employee agreements, loans and other debt.
- Evidence that the mission and goals are used in short and long range financial planning, such as a list of financial goals, a grid showing financial contributions to meeting goals, or an introductory text to fiscal documents such as annual budgets, long range capital plans, long range financial plans, etc., that show relationship to educational goals as identified through institutional assessment and planning.

- □ Evidence showing the fiscal planning follows institutional planning in time sequence, and that funds are used to achieve institutional plans.
- □ Evidence that fiscal planning is evaluated on the basis of its contribution to achievement of institutional goals, not solely on the basis of accounting principles of good practice. Evidence that the financial plans, including annual budget, capital plans, long term fiscal plans undergo periodic review and evaluation.
- Evidence of a fiscal planning process and documents describing the financial planning and budgeting processes and minutes or other records showing the institution has followed those processes.
- Evidence that there is an annual independent audit report and audited financial statements.
- Evidence of actuarial studies, bargaining agreements, and other obligations that reflect long-term liabilities and plans to meet these fiscal liabilities.

Standard IV: Leadership and Governance

The institution recognizes and utilizes the contributions of leadership throughout the organization for continuous improvement of the institution. Governance roles are designed to facilitate decisions that support student learning programs and services and improve institutional effectiveness, while acknowledging the designated responsibilities of the governing board and the chief administrator.

A. Decision-Making Roles and Processes

The institution recognizes that ethical and effective leadership throughout the organization enables the institution to identify institutional values, set and achieve goals, learn, and improve.

1. Institutional leaders create an environment for empowerment, innovation, and institutional excellence. They encourage staff, faculty, administrators, and students, no matter what their official titles, to take initiative in improving the practices, programs, and services in which they are involved. When ideas for improvement have policy or significant institution-wide implications, systematic participative processes are used to assure effective discussion, planning, and implementation.

- What do the statements about institutional goals tell you about the institution's commitment to excellence?
- Are the institution's goals and values clearly articulated and understood by all? Can college staff tell you what those goals and values are?
- Can staff describe their own roles in helping the institution achieve its goals?
- What information about institutional performance is circulating and available to staff and students? Is the information kept current? Is it easily accessed, is it understandable? Is it regularly used in institutional discussions and decision-making sessions?
- Do the institution's processes for institutional evaluation and review, and planning for improvements, provide venues where the evaluations of the institution's performance are made available to all staff?
- Do institutional planning efforts provide opportunity for appropriate staff participation?
- How do individuals bring forward ideas for institutional improvement?
- How does the institution articulate the responsibilities of individuals to develop ideas for improvements in their areas of responsibility?
- How do individuals and groups at the institution use the governance process to enhance student learning?
- 2. The institution establishes and implements a written policy providing for faculty, staff, administrator, and student participation in decision-making processes. The policy specifies the manner in which individuals bring forward ideas from their constituencies and work together on appropriate policy, planning, and specialpurpose bodies.

- a. Faculty and administrators have a substantive and clearly defined role in institutional governance and exercise a substantial voice in institutional policies, planning, and budget that relate to their areas of responsibility and expertise. Students and staff also have established mechanisms or organizations for providing input into institutional decisions.
 - What do institutional policies and procedures describe as the roles for each group in governance, including planning and budget development?
- b. The institution relies on faculty, its academic senate or other appropriate faculty structures, the curriculum committee, and academic administrators for recommendations about student learning programs and services.
 - What documents describe the official responsibilities and authority of the faculty and of academic administrators in curricular and other educational matters?
- 3. Through established governance structures, processes, and practices, the governing board, administrators, faculty, staff, and students work together for the good of the institution. These processes facilitate discussion of ideas and effective communication among the institution's constituencies.
 - Do the written policies on governance procedures specify appropriate roles for all staff and students? Do these policies specify the academic roles of faculty in areas of student educational programs and services planning?
 - Are staff and students well informed of their respective roles. Do staff participate as encouraged by these policies? Do the various groups work in collaborative effort on behalf of institutional improvements? Is the result of this effort actual institutional improvement?
 - Is there effective communication at the college clear, understood, widely available, current communication?
 - Do staff at the college know essential information about institutional efforts to achieve goals and improve learning?

- 4. The institution advocates and demonstrates honesty and integrity in its relationships with external agencies. It agrees to comply with Accrediting Commission standards, policies, and guidelines, and Commission requirements for public disclosure, self-study, and other reports, team visits, and prior approval of substantive changes. The institution moves expeditiously to respond to recommendations made by the Commission.
 - What does documentation of the institution's past accreditation history show about integrity in its relationship with the commission – has it responded expeditiously and honestly to recommendations, are there citations indicating difficulty, etc.?
 - Are the institution's communications of institutional qualities or effectiveness to the public accurate?
 - What is the institution's track record in its relationship with the U.S. Department of Education?
- 5. The role of leadership and the institution's governance and decision-making structures and processes are regularly evaluated to assure their integrity and effectiveness. The institution widely communicates the results of these evaluations and uses them as the basis for improvement.
 - What process does the institution use to evaluate its governance and decision-making structures? Are the results communicated within the campus community?
 - How does the institution use identified weaknesses to make needed improvements?

B. Board and Administrative Organization

In addition to the leadership of individuals and constituencies, institutions recognize the designated responsibilities of the governing board for setting policies and of the chief administrator for the effective operation of the institution. Multi-college districts/systems clearly define the organizational roles of the district/system and the colleges.⁶

- 1. The institution has a governing board that is responsible for establishing policies to assure the quality, integrity, and effectiveness of the student learning programs and services and the financial stability of the institution. The governing board adheres to a clearly defined policy for selecting and evaluating the chief administrator for the college or the district/system.
 - Does the institution have a Policy Manual or other compilation of policy documents that show the board's role in establishing said policy and reviewing it on a regular basis?
 - What statements about quality of program, integrity of institutional actions, and about effectiveness of student learning programs and services are to be found in the institution's boardestablished policies, mission statement, vision or philosophy statement, planning documents, or other statements of direction?
 - What is the written policy describing selection of the chief administrator? Has the board followed it or another process?
 - a. The governing board is an independent policy-making body that reflects the public interest in board activities and decisions. Once the board reaches a decision, it acts as a whole. It advocates for and defends the institution and protects it from undue influence or pressure.
 - Is the governing board appropriately representative of the public interest and lacking conflict of interest? Does the composition of the governing board reflect public interest in the institution?
 - Are less than half of the board members owners of the institution? Are a majority of governing board members non-owners of the institution?
 - b. The governing board establishes policies consistent with the mission statement to ensure the quality, integrity, and improvement of student learning programs and services and the resources necessary to support them.
 - What policies, institutional goals or other formal statements exist that describe board expectations for quality, integrity and improvement of student learning programs and services?

- c. The governing board has ultimate responsibility for educational quality, legal matters, and financial integrity.
 - Is the governing board independent are its actions final, not subject to the actions of any other entity?
- d. The institution or the governing board publishes the board bylaws and policies specifying the board's size, duties, responsibilities, structure, and operating procedures.
- e. The governing board acts in a manner consistent with its policies and bylaws. The board regularly evaluates its policies and practices and revises them as necessary.
 - Do the records of board actions (minutes, resolutions) indicate that it acts consistent with its policies and bylaws?
 - Does the board have a system for evaluating and revising its policies on a regular basis? Is this system implemented?
- f. The governing board has a program for board development and new member orientation. It has a mechanism for providing for continuity of board membership and staggered terms of office.
 - What is the board's program for development and orientation?
 - Does the board development program address the board's need to learn about accreditation standards and expectations?
 - Does the board have a formal, written method of providing for continuing membership and staggered terms of office?
- g. The governing board's self-evaluation processes for assessing board performance are clearly defined, implemented, and published in its policies or bylaws.
 - What is the board self-evaluation process as defined in its policies? Does that process as described likely to be an effective review?

- Does the policy call for regular self-evaluation? Does the institution's board regularly evaluate its own performance?
- h. The governing board has a code of ethics that includes a clearly defined policy for dealing with behavior that violates its code.
 - What is the board's stated process for dealing with board behavior that is unethical? Is there any track record of the board implementing this process? What was the result?
- i. The governing board is informed about and involved in the accreditation process.
 - What kinds of training are provided to the board about the accreditation process, and Commission standards?
 - How does the board participate appropriately in institutional self-study and planning efforts?
 - How do board actions, including planning and resource allocation, indicate a commitment to improvements planned as part of institutional self-evaluation and accreditation processes?
 - How do board actions reflect the commitment to supporting and improving student learning outcomes as reflected in the accreditation standards and expectations for institutional improvement?
 - Is the board informed of institutional reports due to the Commission, and of Commission recommendations to the institution?
 - Is the board knowledgeable about accreditation standards, including those that apply to the board?
 - Does the board assess its own performance using accreditation standards?

- j. The governing board has the responsibility for selecting and evaluating the district/system chief administrator (most often known as the chancellor) in a multi-college district/system or the college chief administrator (most often known as the president) in the case of a single college. The governing board delegates full responsibility and authority to him/her to implement and administer board policies without board interference and holds him/her accountable for the operation of the district/ system or college, respectively. In multi-college districts/systems, the governing board establishes a clearly defined policy for selecting and evaluating the presidents of the colleges.
 - What is the established board process for conducting search and selection processes for the chief administrator? Are those processes written?
 - Has the board used these processes in its most recent searches?
 - How is the board delegation of administrative authority to the chief administrator defined? In policy documents? In a contract with the chief administrator?
 - Is this delegation clear to all parties?
 - How effective is the board in remaining focused at the policy level?
 - What mechanisms does the board use in its evaluation of the chief administrator's performance on implementation of board policies and achievement of institutional goals?
 - How does the board set clear expectations for regular reports form the chief administrator on institutional performance?
 - How does the board set expectations for sufficient information on institutional performance to insure that it can fulfill its responsibility for educational quality, legal matters, and financial integrity?

- 2. The president has primary responsibility for the quality of the institution he/she leads. He/she provides effective leadership in planning, organizing, budgeting, selecting and developing personnel, and assessing institutional effectiveness.
 - a. The president plans, oversees, and evaluates an administrative structure organized and staffed to reflect the institution's purposes, size, and complexity. He/she delegates authority to administrators and others consistent with their responsibilities, as appropriate.
 - b. The president guides institutional improvement of the teaching and learning environment by the following:
 - 1) establishing a collegial process that sets values, goals, and priorities;
 - 2) ensuring that evaluation and planning rely on high quality research and analysis on external and internal conditions;
 - 3) ensuring that educational planning is integrated with resource planning and distribution to achieve student learning outcomes; and
 - 4) establishing procedures to evaluate overall institutional planning and implementation efforts.
 - What does the president do to communicate institutional values, goals and direction?
 - How familiar is the president with data and analyses of institutional performance?
 - How does the president communicate the importance of a culture of evidence and a focus on student learning?
 - Where does the research office report in the institution
 does it have easy access to the president's office?
 - What mechanisms has the president put in place to link institutional research, particularly research on student learning, institutional planning processes, resource allocation processes?
 - How does the district chief executive officer follow the component parts of this standard in the role of providing effective district leadership?

- c. The president assures the implementation of statutes, regulations, and governing board policies and assures that institutional practices are consistent with institutional mission and policies.
- d. The president effectively controls budget and expenditures.
- e. The president works and communicates effectively with the communities served by the institution.
- 3. In multi-college districts or systems, the district/system provides primary leadership in setting and communicating expectations of educational excellence and integrity throughout the district/system and assures support for the effective operation of the colleges. It establishes clearly defined roles of authority and responsibility between the colleges and the district/system and acts as the liaison between the colleges and the governing board.⁶
 - a. The district/system clearly delineates and communicates theoperational responsibilities and functions of the district/system from those of the colleges and consistently adheres to this delineation in practice.
 - Does the system have a written delineation of responsibilities? Are institutional and system staff knowledgeable of this delination?
 - Is the delineation of responsibilities evaluated for effectiveness?
 - b. The district/system provides effective services that support the colleges in their missions and functions.
 - What feedback mechanisms does the system have in place to allow assessment of the effectiveness of system services?
 - Is the assessment of system services data driven? Does it reflect the needs and priorities of the institutions?
 - Are system services regularly evaluated with regard to their support for institutional missions and functions?
 - c. The district/system provides fair distribution of resources that are adequate to support the effective operations of the colleges.

- What is the system's method of distributing resources to its institutions? Is the system based in a realistic assessment of needs of each institution? Is it even-handed?
- Is the system's resource distribution method data driven? Does it reflect the needs and priorities of the institutions?
- d. The district/system effectively controls its expenditures.
 - What are the institution's financial control mechanisms? Does the institution follow standard good practice in fiscal management?
 - Does the institution consistently end the fiscal year with an positive ending balance?
 - What do the institution's most recent annual independent audit reports and audited financial statements reveal about control of expenditures?
- e. The chancellor gives full responsibility and authority to the presidents of the colleges to implement and administer delegated district/system policies without his/her interference and holds them accountable for the operation of the colleges.
- f. The district/system acts as the liaison between the colleges and the governing board. The district/system and the colleges use effective methods of communication, and they exchange information in a timely manner.
 - What are the methods of working jointly that the system and the institutions use?
 - Do these methods result in clear and timely communications in all directions?
 - Are the institutions well-informed about system issues, Board actions and interests that have an impact on their operations, educational quality, stability or ability to provide high quality education?
- g. The district/system regularly evaluates district/system role delineation and governance and decision-making structures and processes to assure their integrity and effectiveness in assisting

the colleges in meeting educational goals. The district/system widely communicates the results of these evaluations and uses them as the basis for improvement.

- What are the system's methods for evaluating its effectiveness?
- Does it conduct regular assessments? How does it communicate the results?

Sources of Evidence: Examples for Standard IV

Listed below are examples of potential sources of evidence for Standard IV. There may be many other sources which institutions should provide and teams should ask for.

A. Decision-Making Roles and Processes

- Evidence that shows board and other governance policies and descriptions of the participation of constituencies in decision-making bodies.
- Evidence that includes documents showing the transmission of recommendations from faculty and academic administrators to decision-making bodies, and descriptions of the institution's information and decision-making process.
- Evidence that includes copies of governance policies and procedures, the composition of governance bodies, minutes of meetings, and documents showing the roles academic staff plan in reviewing and planning student learning programs and services.
- □ Evidence that includes evaluations and analyses the institution conducts of its governing and decision-making processes, and the form of communication of same to the community.
- □ Evidence that includes the Policy Manual, institutional statement of mission, vision or philosophy, and institutional planning documents.

B. Board and Administrative Organization

- Evidence that includes published statements of institutional goals that reference the board's expectations for student learning and quality of education.
- Evidence that includes documents describing the authority of the board; the absence of any external, higher authority than the board; descriptions of the board appointment and replacement process.
- **□** Evidence that includes the published bylaws.
- Evidence that includes board minutes or a schedule showing board evaluation of policies.
- **D** Evidence that includes the materials from board training workshops.
- Evidence that includes the policy on board membership, appointment and replacement.
- Evidence that includes the board's policy and instruments used for self evaluation, analyses and reports on the last few self-evaluations completed.
- Evidence that includes the board policy statement of ethics.
- Evidence that includes board minutes, statements to college constituents on this delegation of authority, the board policy manual, any contracts with administrators that specify delegation of authority, board agreements with faculty bodies regarding delegation of authority.
- Evidence that includes budget documents and independent audit reports and audited financial statements showing ending year balances, audit exceptions (if any).
- Evidence that includes the results of surveys, other evaluations of the president's activities directed toward the communities served by the institutions.
- □ Evidence that includes surveys and other evaluative instruments, and the results of evaluation. Evidence that includes descriptions of funding rules or formulas, committee minutes or other documents showing the system has assessed the needs of each institution.

- Evidence that includes financial policies and manuals, the content of internal audits and reviews, annual independent external audits, fiscal program reviews conducted by other agencies, and the annual budget documents.
- □ Evidence that includes any formal delineation of responsibilities that might be found in district/college documents, including descriptions of job duties, descriptions contained in employment contracts, and the district mapping provided to the institutions and the Commission.
- □ Evidence: examples of written or other recorded communications.
- Evidence that would include institutional analyses of performance, including fact books, reports, web page data portfolios, and publications that describe research on institutional performance.
- Evidence that includes written information about institutional planning processes, minutes of meetings, records of participation in institutional evaluation and planning sessions.
- □ Evidence that includes the system's evaluation instruments, the results of the evaluation, and plans for improvement increasing.
- Evidence that multi-college systems develop a "map" or description of district and college functions that delineates and distinguishes them clearly.

List of Policies Referenced in the Standards

- ¹ Policy on Distance Learning, Including Electronically-Mediated Learning
- ² Principles of Good Practice in Overseas International Education Programs for Non-U.S. Nationals
- ³ Policy on Closing and Institution
- ⁴ Policy on Transfer of Credit; Policy on Award of Credit
- ⁵ Contractual Relationships with Non-Regionally Accredited Organizations
- ⁶ Policy and Procedures for the Evaluation of Institutions in Multi-College/Multi-Unit Districts or Systems
- ⁷ Policy on Institutional Advertising, Student Recruitment, and Representation of Accredited Status

College-wide Priorities for 2009-10

Draft for Discussion

August 25, 2009

- a. Accreditation visit
- b. Internal and external communication regarding impact of budget reductions and other pertinent information
- c. Budget
 - i. Resolving structural imbalance
 - ii. Planning categorical programs staffing and operations beyond 2009-10
 - iii. Assessing the sustainability of reductions implemented, their impacts and how we will operate in 2010-11 and beyond
- d. Emergency preparedness
 - i. Training
 - ii. Processes
- e. Planning agendas identified in the self study
- f. Selected objectives from College Plan 2008-11; District Technology Plan 2008-11; Enrollment Management Plan 2009-11 and related implementation strategies/actions
- g. Banner 8 upgrade
- h. Preparation and application for a Title V grant

District Technology Plan 2008-2011 Table of Contents

STUDENT LEARNING, ACHIEVEMENT, AND DEVELOPMENT	1
Goal 1. Deploy technology that supports increased student success through innovative	
instruction and student support programs that address the needs of a diverse college	
population.	1
OUTREACH, ACCESS, AND RESPONSIVENESS TO THE COMMUNITY	1
Goal 2. Provide technology to support increased access to education for all segments of the	
community that can benefit from the college's programs and services	1
FACULTY, STAFF, AND ADMINISTRATORS	2
Goal 3. Strengthen programs for students of the College by utilizing best practices for	
recruitment, workplace satisfaction and professional development of faculty, staff, and	
administrators	2
GOVERNANCE, DECISION SUPPORT, AND FISCAL MANAGEMENT	2
Goal 4. Ensure that the College has effective shared governance and decision-making	
structures and processes	2
Goal 5. Establish College-wide accountability systems that are based on quantitative and	
qualitative data and linked to planning and budgeting	3
FACILITIES, CAPITAL PROJECTS, AND MAINTENANCE	3
Goal 6. Create an optimal physical and technological environment that ensures the best servic	e
to students and the local community	3

Goals and Objectives District Technology Plan 2008-2011

STUDENT LEARNING, ACHIEVEMENT, AND DEVELOPMENT

The effective use of technology, including a universally designed environment, will help enable the institution to achieve the ambitious goals and objectives in the College Plan: 2008-2011 for increasing student access, learning and success. This will require the college to identify best practices in using technology as well as to provide the resources, training and processes needed for increasing student access, learning and success.

Goal 1. Deploy technology that supports increased student success through innovative instruction and student support programs that address the needs of a diverse college population.

Objective 1.1 -Increase by 5% the number of sections per year will be utilizing media enhanced technology

Objective 1.2 - Implement the computer literacy requirement for matriculating students as recommended by the curriculum committee, including simulation and testing software for assessment.

Objective 1.3 -Establish guidelines which will enable campus technology procurement to meet state and federal compliance with ADA and Section 508, to be completed by Fall 2009.

Objective 1.4 -Improve accessible learning environments with training and support for students, including those students with disabilities.

Objective 1.5 - Complete Wifi coverage to all public campus areas.

Objective 1.6 - Equip 9 new classrooms and upgrade 24 existing classrooms with the new standard multimedia equipment.

OUTREACH, ACCESS, AND RESPONSIVENESS TO THE COMMUNITY

Technology systems and services are needed in order to provide students with equitable and timely access to all support services regardless of their location or mode of instruction; to increase student involvement and self-reliance in planning, decision making, goal setting and evaluation of their educational progress; and to save students time in navigating the college's administrative and information systems.

Goal 2. Provide technology to support increased access to education for all segments of the community that can benefit from the college's programs and services.

Objective 2.1 – Establish a baseline for faculty use of reduced cost electronic or open source textbooks by Fall 2009 and set a growth goal to be achieved by Spring 2011.

Goals and Objectives District Technology Plan 2008-2011

Objective 2.2 – Increase the use of the Campus Card debit feature by 20%.

Objective 2.3 – Develop online tools for English and Math assessment testing preparation.

Objective 2.4 – Establish and implement the Distance Education plan to increase the number of online courses that support certificates and degrees by June 2009.

Objective 2.5 – Establish a baseline and increase by 25% the number of college forms online in a work flow environment.

Objective 2.6 – Provide online support services equivalent to those available on campus.

Objective 2.7 – Provide unified College support for a common learning management system (LMS) that will be integrated with the Banner student system and third-party communication tools.

FACULTY, STAFF, AND ADMINISTRATORS

SBCC faculty and staff receive technology training in support of new and existing technologies. A professional development program will assist staff in mastering software. Faculty training also includes effective use of the student portal and a course management system for the delivery of online and web-enhanced courses. Sufficient time for technology training should be scheduled on a regular basis for all.

Goal 3. Strengthen programs for students of the College by utilizing best practices for recruitment, workplace satisfaction and professional development of faculty, staff, and administrators.

Objective 3.1 – Refine and improve remote access practices which include video, voice and data connectivity that mirror services available on campus.

Objective 3.2 – Assess and improve technology training opportunities to enable faculty, staff and administrators adapt to the changing technology available on campus.

GOVERNANCE, DECISION SUPPORT, AND FISCAL MANAGEMENT

The college is provided with responsive and secure systems to access administrative information that facilitates informed decisions. Effective organizational structures assure quality support services and provide direction for decision support systems across the college.

Goal 4. Ensure that the College has effective shared governance and decision-making structures and processes.

Goals and Objectives District Technology Plan 2008-2011

Objective 4.1 – By Fall 2009 develop a decision support system for enrollment management and institutional effectiveness research.

Objective 4.2 – Complete the implementation of Banner and integration of associated third party software applications and refine business processes in the context of this implementation.

Objective 4.3 – By June 2011, 75% of adult education students will enroll online.

Goal 5. Establish College-wide accountability systems that are based on quantitative and qualitative data and linked to planning and budgeting.

Objective 5.1 – By Fall of 2009, establish budget allocations for technology based on Instructional, Student Services, and Operational Program Reviews.

FACILITIES, CAPITAL PROJECTS, AND MAINTENANCE

Information technology needs to be effectively and efficiently planned, managed, and should reflect the complexity of the information technology environment of the college and the need for increased participation by and communication with a wide array of college constituents.

Goal 6. Create an optimal physical and technological environment that ensures the best service to students and the local community.

Objective 6.1 – Reduce the power consumption of technology equipment by 10%

Objective 6.2 – By 2011, provide a network infrastructure capable of meeting the increasing demands for bandwidth and enhanced services for delivery of voice, video, data and other emerging technologies.

Objective 6.3 - Implement a Disaster Recovery & Business Continuity (DR/BC) Plan

Planning Agendas Identified in the Institutional Self Study for Reaffirmation of Accreditation August 13, 2009

College-wide

- 1. By June 2010, evaluate the College's revised planning and resource allocation process and identify modifications needed for its improvement.
- 2. The Superintendent/President will bring BPAP's recommendations for policy revisions or new policies to the Board for review and approval on a regular basis. By Spring 2012, through BPAP, the College will complete the process of 1) reviewing all existing policies and procedures; 2) separating policies from procedures, as appropriate; 3) revoking obsolete policies and procedures; and 4) formatting and re-numbering, as appropriate, all existing policies and procedures using the CCLC format and numbering system. Proposed new Board policies and administrative procedures will follow the CCLC format and numbering system, as much as possible. Post all current policies and procedures to one location on the College Web site. All electronic access to College policies will be derived from a common source and multiple versions will be eliminated.
- 3. In 2009-10, develop a framework for regular evaluation and improvement of institutional shared governance and decision-making structures and processes and conduct the evaluation.
- 4. In 2010-11, develop and implement a plan that responds to the evaluation of each constituency group's effectiveness in the shared governance process.

Information Technology/Institutional Assessment, Research and Planning

 Starting in 2009-10, the Information Technology and the Institutional Assessment, Research and Planning departments will expand options for timely and accurate data extraction and reporting tools available to credit and Continuing Education student support service departments.

Educational Programs

- 6. The draft of the Educational Master Plan will be completed by October 2009 and finalized by December 2009.
- 7. By April 2010, evaluate the extent to which eLumen is providing the SLO performance data reports needed to help inform discussions for improving student learning and achievement. The results of this assessment will be used by the SLO Coordination

Group, in consultation with the Academic Senate, the Committee on Teaching and Learning, and the Student Services SLO Coordination Group, to identify changes that could be made to improve the effectiveness of this software for capturing and reporting the data needed to document and improve student learning.

- 8. By September 2010, evaluate the effectiveness of the first full year of the SLO Implementation Cycle.
- 9. Faculty in individual departments will review SLO data comparing students in online sections with those in face-to-face sections when this data first becomes available in 2009-10. By September 2010, improvement plans will be developed based on the review of the data collected.
- 10. By the end of the fall 2009 semester, an online SLO training site for adjunct faculty will be completed.
- 11. In September 2009, the SLO Project Coordinator will work closely with the Student Senate to involve more students in the dialogue, the improvement planning process and the evaluation of SLO performance measures. The president of the Student Senate will be asked to appoint one or two students to serve as members of the SLO Coordinating Group and one or two students to serve on the Student Services SLO Coordinating Group.
- 12. The SLO Coordinating group will analyze data that include both instructional and student support SLOs and make recommendations for improvement.
- 13. By fall 2010, the Dean of Educational Programs, Technology and the Committee on Online Instruction (COI) will develop and administer a survey of online students to determine the support services students need to successfully complete their courses.
- 14. In 2009-10, the Dean of Educational Programs who oversees Student Development, Counseling and Matriculation will explore opportunities for more efficient and timely evaluation of external transcripts including the use of DARS, use of Optical Character Recognition technology to convert hardcopy transcripts to data files and participation in the development of emerging electronic transcript exchange systems.
- 15. Educational Programs staff will study the feasibility of expanding its existing support for students and faculty from a five-day per week 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. service, to one that includes nights and weekends in recognition of the 24 hour, seven day a week nature of contemporary higher education.

Human Resources

16. Monitor on an ongoing basis the efficacy of performance review processes for all employee groups and make changes, as needed.

Information Technology

17.By fall 2010, the Vice President for Information Technology will form a task force to establish and gather baseline data on the information technology training needs of the campus community, analyze this data, and develop training improvement plans.

Continuing Education

- 18. The College will develop and administer a student questionnaire for Continuing Education to assess student satisfaction.
- 19. In 2009-10, the Continuing Education Division will use the Curriculum Oversight Committee to plan and implement the SLO Cycle for Continuing Education courses.
- 20. During fall 2009, Continuing Education directors and dean, in consultation with the Vice President of Continuing Education, will implement a consistent faculty evaluation plan.
- 21. Achieve Objective 2.5 in the College Plan 2008-11 which states that "the Continuing Education Division will initiate the Student Learning Outcomes cycle in all non-credit courses eligible for enhanced funding and complete the SLO cycle in 1/3 of the courses per year beginning academic year 2009-10."

Business Services

- 22. By December 2009, the Director, Facilities and Campus Development, working with appropriate staff, will develop the College's design and construction standards and incorporate sustainable practices where appropriate.
- 23. By spring 2010, the Director, Facilities and Campus Development, in collaboration with appropriate staff, will revise the College's standard construction specifications to incorporate sustainable practices where appropriate.
- 24. By spring 2011, the Director, Facilities and Campus Development, in collaboration with appropriate staff, will develop the College's Integrated Pest Management to improve sustainable practices.
- 25. By spring 2010, the Director, Facilities and Campus Development, in collaboration with appropriate staff, will develop the College's recycling plan to improve sustainable practices.